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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements, within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995,
that involve substantial risks and uncertainties. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by the words “anticipate,” “believe,”
“continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “might,” “objective,” “ongoing,” “plan,” “predict,” “project,” “potential,” “should,” “will,” or
“would,” and or the negative of these terms, or other comparable terminology intended to identify statements about the future. These statements
involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements
to be materially different from the information expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements.
Although we believe that we have a reasonable basis for each forward-looking statement contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we
caution you that these statements are based on a combination of facts and factors currently known by us and our expectations of the future, about
which we cannot be certain.
The forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q include, among other things, statements about:
•

the timing, progress and results of our U.S. staged pivotal clinical trial and our regulatory submissions;

•

our ability to advance our microlens and successfully complete our U.S. staged pivotal clinical trial;

•

our ability to obtain pre-market approvals;

•

the commercialization of our microlens outside the U.S.;

•

our ability to continue as a going concern;

•

our anticipated cash needs and our needs for additional financing;

•

the implementation of our business model, strategic plans for our business, products and technology;

•

the scope of protection we are able to establish and maintain for intellectual property rights covering our products and technology;

•

estimates of our expenses, future revenues, capital requirements and our needs for additional financing;

•

the timing or likelihood of regulatory filings and approvals;

•

our financial performance; and

•

developments relating to our competitors and our industry.

You should refer to “Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016, filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (”SEC”) on March 29, 2017 for a discussion of important factors that may cause our actual results to differ
materially from those expressed or implied by our forward-looking statements. As a result of these factors, we cannot assure you that the forwardlooking statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q will prove to be accurate. You should understand that it is not possible to predict or identify
all such factors. Consequently, you should not consider any such list to be a complete discussion of all potential risks or uncertainties that may
substantially impact our business. Moreover, we operate in a competitive and rapidly changing environment. New factors emerge from time to time
and it is not possible to predict the impact of all of these factors on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
Furthermore, if our forward-looking statements prove to be inaccurate, the inaccuracy may be material. In light of the significant uncertainties in
these forward-looking statements, you should not regard these statements as a representation or warranty by us or any other person that we will
achieve our objectives and plans in any specified time frame or at all. We undertake no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statements,
whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law.
You should read this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and any documents that we reference in this report completely and with the understanding that
our actual future results may be materially different from what we expect. We qualify all of our forward-looking statements by these cautionary
statements.
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PART I. FINANCI AL INFORMATION
ITEM 1.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PRESBIA PLC
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share data and par value amount)
June 30, 2017

Assets
Current assets
Cash
Accounts receivable
Inventory, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Intangible asset
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Due to related parties
Note payable, current portion
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Note payable, net of current portion
Deferred rent
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (note 7)
Shareholders' equity
Ordinary Shares
$0.001 par value, 350,000,000 shares authorized; 17,121,857 and
13,420,927 shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2017 and
December 31, 2016
Deferred ordinary Shares
€1.00 (US$1.35) par value, 39,994 shares authorized, issued and
outstanding at June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016
Preferred Shares
$0.001 par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized; -0- shares issued
and outstanding at June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total shareholders' equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

December 31, 2016

(unaudited)
$

$

$

$

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements.
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10,668
10
249
492
11,419
643
1,504
128
13,694

$

466
28
522
1,255
2,271
448
138
2,857

$

$

7,333
3
302
392
8,030
727
1,494
126
10,377

399
18
490
582
1,489
369
80
1,938

17

13

54

54

—
91,195
(80,429)
10,837
13,694

$

—
79,676
(71,304)
8,439
10,377

PRESBIA PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)
Three-Months Ended June 30,
2017
2016

Revenues
Cost of goods sold
Gross loss
Operating expenses:
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Operating loss
Interest (expense) income
Other income
Loss before income tax provision
Income tax provision
Net loss
Net loss per ordinary share-basic and diluted
Weighted average shares outstanding - basic and diluted

$

$
$

—
17
(17)
2,022
816
1,649
4,487
(4,504)
(4)
—
(4,508)
25
(4,533)
(0.27)
16,956,056

$

$
$

3
26
(23)
1,244
733
1,881
3,858
(3,881)
5
—
(3,876)
6
(3,882)
(0.29)
13,337,042

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements.
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Six-Months Ended June 30,
2017
2016

$

$
$

5
28
(23)
3,863
1,777
3,403
9,043
(9,066)
(18)
—
(9,084)
41
(9,125)
(0.58)
15,618,001

$

$
$

6
47
(41)
2,538
1,412
3,659
7,609
(7,650)
9
1
(7,640)
9
(7,649)
(0.57)
13,336,268

PRESBIA PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
(Unaudited)
Six-Months Ended June 30,
2017

Cash flow from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Inventory provisions
Stock-based compensation
Imputed interest expense
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other assets
Accounts payable and other current liabilities
Income taxes payable
Deferred rent
Due to related parties
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flow from investing activities:
Purchases of intangible assets
Purchases of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flow from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares from rights offering, net of costs
Proceeds from sale of equipment
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash
Effect of exchange rate on cash
Cash balance at beginning of period
Cash balance at end of period

$

(9,125)

$

171
29
1,038
40

$

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements.

4

2016

(7,649)
96
47
959
—

(7)
24
(100)
(2)
698
39
58
10
(7,127)

82
(126)
(202)
(96)
(139)
(17)
(8)
(3)
(7,056)

(87)
(7)
(94)

—
(52)
(52)

10,485
—
10,485
3,264
71
7,333
10,668

$

—
1
1
(7,107)
—
21,749
14,642

PRESBIA PLC
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)
(1) Basis of Presentation
Principles of Consolidation. The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been derived from the historical cost basis of the assets
and liabilities, financial condition and cash flows of Presbia PLC and Presbia Ireland, Limited, both organized in Ireland, Presbia Investments, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Presbia PLC organized in the Cayman Islands, and Presbia Ireland, Limited’s subsidiaries, Presbia USA, Inc., and OPL,
LLC. Presbia USA, Inc. and OPL, LLC are both entities organized in the United States, and include Presbia USA, Inc.’s subsidiaries, Visitome, Inc.
and PresbiBio, LLC, both organized in the United States, and OPL, LLC’s direct and indirect subsidiaries, PIP Holdings, C.V and Presbia Cooperatief
U.A., both organized in the Netherlands, and PresbiOptical LLC, organized in the United States (collectively, including Presbia PLC, the
“Company”). The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America (“GAAP”). The Company’s fiscal year ends on December 31. The entities presented in the consolidated financial
statements have been under common control during the periods presented. All intercompany accounts have been eliminated in consolidation.
Basis of Presentation. The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2017 and for the three months and six
months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively, have been prepared in accordance with GAAP for interim financial reporting, and with the
instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 8 of Regulation S-X. The accompanying consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2016 has been derived
from the audited consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2016, contained in the above referenced Form 10-K. These consolidated financial
statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements presented in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 29, 2017. In the opinion of
management, the accompanying consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments which are necessary for a fair presentation of the results of
operations and cash flows for the periods presented. The results of operations for such interim periods are not necessarily indicative of results of
operations to be expected for the full year.
References to amounts in the accompanying consolidated financial statements are in thousands, except per share data, unless otherwise specified.
Liquidity
The Company has incurred significant operating losses since inception and had relied on funding from Presbia Holdings (the “Parent”) to fund
operations prior to its IPO on February 3, 2015. Presbia Holdings was dissolved on November 25, 2015 and ceased to be the Parent of Presbia
PLC. At June 30, 2017, the Company has an accumulated deficit of $80.4 million. As the Company continues to incur losses, its transition to
profitability will depend primarily on the completion of its U.S. staged pivotal trial, obtaining FDA approval of its microlens and, if approval is received
from the FDA, the commercialization of its product within the United States and, to a lesser extent, may also be impacted by the successful
commercialization of its product in certain jurisdictions outside the United States in which the Company has market approval, including the European
Economic Area. The Company may never achieve profitability, and unless and until it does, it will need to continue to raise additional capital. We
may raise additional capital through equity offerings, debt financings, collaborations and/or licensing arrangements. Additional funds may not be
available when we need them on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all. If adequate funds are not available on acceptable terms, we may be
required to delay, reduce the scope of, or curtail, our operations.
Going Concern
Management does not expect existing cash to be sufficient to fund the Company’s operations for at least twelve months from the issuance date of
these interim financial statements. These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes the Company will
continue to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. As of June 30, 2017, the Company has incurred losses
totaling $80.4 million since inception, has not yet generated material revenue from operations, and will require additional funds to maintain its
operations. These factors raise substantial doubt regarding the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after these interim
financial statements are issued. The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon its ability to generate future profitable
operations and obtain the necessary financing to meet its obligations and repay its liabilities arising from normal business operations when they
become due. The Company intends to finance operating costs over
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the next twelve months through its existing financia l resources and we will need to raise additional capital through equity offerings, debt financings,
collaborations and/or licensing arrangements. If adequate funds are not available on acceptable terms, we may be required to delay, reduce the
scope of, or curtail, our operations. The accompanying financial statements do not include any adjustments to the recoverability and classification of
recorded asset amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to conti nue as a going concern.
(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
During the six months ended June 30, 2017 there have been no changes to the Company’s significant accounting policies as described in the
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016.
Foreign Currency
The functional currency of subsidiaries outside the United States of America is the U.S. Dollar. Transactions in foreign currencies during the year are
re-measured at rates of exchange on the dates of the transactions. Gains and losses related to re-measurement of items arising through operating
activities are accounted for in the statement of operations and comprehensive loss and included in general and administrative expense. Aggregate
foreign exchange loss was $52,000 and $79,000 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, respectively, and aggregate foreign exchange
loss was $7,000 and $16,000 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, respectively.
Comprehensive Loss
Comprehensive income or loss is defined as a change in equity of a company attributable to all transactions excluding those transactions resulting
from investment with owners and distributions to owners. There were no differences between net loss and comprehensive loss in the periods ended
June 30, 2017 and 2016.
Offering Costs
On December 5, 2016, the Company filed with the SEC a Form S-1 Registration Statement under the Securities Act of 1933 for the purpose of
distributing to holders of the Company’s ordinary shares, non-transferable and non-tradeable subscription rights to purchase ordinary shares (“rights
offering”). During the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, the Company incurred approximately $0.0 million and $0.4 million related to its
rights offering, which was completed on March 8, 2017. Upon completion of the rights offering, the Company netted approximately $0.4 million in
offering costs against the gross proceeds in shareholders’ equity.
Future Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) . The new standard is based on the principle
that revenue should be recognized to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. ASU 2014-09 will be effective for the Company in the first quarter of
2018 and allows for full retrospective or a modified retrospective adoption method.
Revenues continue to be immaterial for the Company and are expected to continue to be immaterial in the near-term as we are undertaking limited
commercialization efforts in only a few selected markets. Accordingly, we currently do not expect the new revenue standard to have a material
impact on the amount and timing of revenue recognized in our consolidated financial statements. We currently expect to adopt the new revenue
standard in our first quarter of 2018 utilizing the modified retrospective adoption method. The foregoing preliminary assessments or expectations are
subject to change pending further analysis through the 2017 year.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) . The new standard requires lessees to recognize most leases on their
balance sheets as lease liabilities with corresponding right-of-use assets and eliminates certain real estate-specific provisions. ASU 2016-02 will be
effective for the Company in the first quarter of 2019. ASU 2016-02 will be adopted on a modified retrospective transition basis for leases existing at,
or entered into after, the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the financial statements. Although the Company is currently
evaluating the full impact of ASU 2016-02 on its consolidated financial statements, upon adoption of ASU 2016-2 the Company’s operating leases
will be recognized on the balance sheet as a lease liability if certain criteria is met, with a corresponding right of use asset.
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In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows , which clarifies the classification of certain cash receipts and payments.
The specific cash flow issues addressed by ASU 2016-15, with the objective of reducing the existing diversity in practice, are as follows: (1) Debt
prepayment or debt ex tinguishment costs; (2) Settlement of zero-coupon debt instruments or other debt instruments with insignificant coupon
interest rates; (3) Contingent consideration payments made after a business combination; (4) Proceeds from the settlement of insurance cl aims; (5)
Proceeds from the settlement of corporate-owned life insurance policies; (6) Distributions received from equity method investees; (7) Beneficial
interest in securitization transactions; and (8) Separately identifiable cash flows and application o f the predominance in principle. ASU 2016-15 will
be effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2017. The Company is currently evaluating
the impact of ASU 2016-15 on its consolidated financial statements.
(3) Loss per Share
Basic net loss per ordinary share is calculated by dividing net loss allocated to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the reporting period, excluding unvested restricted stock awards. Diluted net loss allocated to ordinary shareholders per
share is calculated based on the weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding during the period.
Dilutive potential ordinary shares consist of the shares issuable upon the exercise of options and upon the vesting of restricted shares under the
treasury stock method. In net loss periods, basic and diluted net loss per share are identical since the effect of potential ordinary shares is antidilutive and therefore excluded.
Basic and diluted loss per share for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 were calculated as follows:
Three-Months Ended June 30,
2017
2016

Net Loss
Weighted average shares outstanding
- basic and diluted
Net loss per ordinary share - basic and
diluted

$

(4,533) $
16,956,056

$

(0.27) $

Six-Months Ended June 30,
2017
2016

(3,882) $
13,337,042
(0.29) $

(9,125) $
15,618,001
(0.58) $

(7,649)
13,336,268
(0.57)

Antidilutive securities, which consist of options and unvested restricted shares that are not included in the diluted net loss per share calculation,
consisted of an aggregate of 1,152,500 and 1,111,968 weighted average shares for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively
and 1,050,000 and 1,112,087 for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
(4) Share Based Awards
Equity Issued by Presbia PLC
Presbia Incentive Plan
On January 14, 2015, the Company approved a compensation incentive plan (the “Presbia Incentive Plan”). The Presbia Incentive Plan permits the
Company to grant awards of options, restricted shares, share appreciation rights, restricted share units, performance shares, performance share
units, dividend equivalent rights in respect of awards and other share-based and cash-based awards, including annual and long-term cash incentive
awards. A total of 2,200,000 ordinary shares are authorized for issuance under the Presbia Incentive Plan of which approximately 166,741 were
available on June 30, 2017 for future grants and awards. The exercise price of each option award shall be determined by the Board of Directors (or a
committee thereof) at the date of grant in accordance with the terms of the 2005 Plan, and under the Presbia Incentive Plan awards generally vest
20% annually over a five-year period and expire no later than 10 years from the grant date. The Presbia Incentive Plan terminates on January 14,
2025, unless terminated earlier by the board of directors. Awards under the Presbia Incentive Plan may be granted to employees, directors,
consultants and other persons who perform services for the Company or a subsidiary of the Company.
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The following table shows share-based compensation expense based upon all equity awards issued by Presbia PLC included in the Consolidate d
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands).
Three-Months Ended June 30,
2017
2016

Research and development
General and administrative
Sales and marketing

Six-Months Ended June 30,
2017
2016

$

126
311
78

$

103
414
26

$

242
641
155

$

163
729
67

$

515

$

543

$

1,038

$

959

Options
The following table sets forth the Company’s option activity for the six months ended June 30, 2017:
Number of
Presbia PLC
Shares

Balance, December 31, 2016
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited/cancelled/expired
Balance, June 30, 2017
Vested, June 30, 2017
No Vested, June 30, 2017
Exercisable, June 30, 2017

1,050,000
—
—
—
1,050,000
587,800
462,200
587,800

Weighted Average
Exercise Price
Per Share

$

$
$
$
$

9.77
—
—
—
9.77
9.81
9.71
9.81

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Employee Options
The Company utilizes the Black-Scholes valuation model for estimating the fair value of granted stock options with the following assumptions in
addition to the closing price of the Company’s ordinary shares on the date of the grant: (i) the Company estimates the expected term of the option
utilizing the simplified method because of its limited history of option exercise activity and its options meet the criteria of a "plain-vanilla" option as
defined by the Securities Exchange Commission (ii) due to its limited stock price volatility history, the Company uses a peer group average as
permitted under Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 718 consistent with the expected term of the stock option at the time of the grant and (iii)
applies a risk-free interest rate based on the U.S. Treasury securities yield consistent with the expected term of the option at the time of the grant.
The simplified method calculates the expected term as the average of the weighted average vesting period and contractual terms of the award.
For those options granted to employees, stock-based compensation expense was based upon the fair value of the option as of the grant-date and
attributed to future reporting periods on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, or the requisite service period. A 3% forfeiture rate assumption
was applied, which reduced the amount of expense recognized each period anticipating that a portion of all options granted would, more likely than
not, be cancelled prior to the dates of its vesting periods. The forfeiture rate is subject to review and may be adjusted based upon experience. The
Company did not issue employee options during the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016.
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Non-Employee Options
During the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, the Company did not grant options to non-employee consultants and medical
advisors. In contrast to the determination of the fair value of options granted to employees, which are determined based upon the grant-date
assumptions and applying the Black-Scholes model, the fair values for non-employee options and the related stock-based compensation expense
are remeasured each financial reporting period based upon the assumptions applicable on the dates in which the financial statements are prepared,
which are disclosed in the following table:
Three-Months
Ended June 30,
2017

Stock price per share
Expected term
Volatility
Dividends
Risk-free rate

$1.25 -$1.63
7.7 - 8.4 Yrs.
79.1% - 83.5%
—
2.2%

$

Three-Months
Ended June 30,
2016

Six-Months Ended
June 30, 2017

4.52
9.0 Yrs.
66.1%
—
1.5%

$1.25 -$2.51
7.7 - 8.6 Yrs.
79.1% - 90.0%
—
2.2% - 2.3%

Six-Months Ended
June 30, 2016

$

4.52
8.7 - 9.4 Yrs.
66.1%
—
1.5%

Because the performance criteria of these grants is based solely upon a requisite service period, but are subject to forfeiture if the service conditions
are not met, stock-based compensation expense is determined by a straight-line attribution of the remeasured expense (mark-to-market) over the
requisite service period subject to a forfeiture rate of 3%.
Restricted Shares
Consistent with the Company’s director compensation policy, the Company’s board of directors approved the grant of 0 and 89,166 restricted
ordinary shares of the Company during the three and six month period ended June 30, 2017, with a grant date weighted average fair value of $2.28,
and a one-year vesting period following the date of grant. The Company granted 15,968 restricted ordinary shares during the three and six months
ended June 30, 2016.
The following table sets forth the Company’s restricted share activity for the six months ended June 30, 2017:
Unvested Number
of
Shares

Balance, December 31, 2016
Granted
Vested
Forfeited/cancelled
Unvested, June 30, 2017

81,682
89,166
(5,047)
—
165,801

Weighted Average
Fair
Value per Share

$
$
$
$

3.50
2.28
2.28
—
2.28

Restricted Share Units
During the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, the Board of Directors approved and granted the award of 32,500 and 87,500 restricted share
units (“RSU” or “RSU’s” or “RSU Plan”), respectively, to officers and employees in accordance with the guidelines provided by the Presbia Incentive
Plan, which includes a provision that the recipient must be employed as a condition of vesting. During the three and six months ended June 30,
2016, the Board of Directors approved and granted the award of and 0 and 682,500 restricted share units, respectively. The Presbia RSU Plan
authorizes the issuance of 20% of each recipient’s total RSU award for the first occurrence that the closing price of the Company’s ordinary shares
exceed, for a period of 20 consecutive business days, price thresholds of $10.00, $15.00, $20.00, $25.00 and $30.00, respectively. The RSU Plan
also provides for a one-year “wait” or service period prior to any vesting permitted under the plan. The RSU Plan has a seven-year expiration period
following the date of the grant.
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Fair value of the RSU’s awarded were determined using a Monte Carlo Simulation (“MCS”) methodology, which considers the separate probabilities
that each of the price thresholds or market conditions will be achieved under the RSU Plan guidelines. E ach probability is weighted by its respective
price threshold, or its intrinsic value, which provides the basis for an aggregate fair value. The Company used the following key inputs in determining
the fair value using the MCS model: (i) the volatility of the entity’s common stock and (ii) the closing price of the entity’s stock as of the measurement
date of the RSU award. In accordance with GAAP, the Company recognizes as stock-based compensation expense, using a straight-line attribution
method, the aggre gate fair value over future periods based upon the respective derived service periods and fair values for each of the price
thresholds as provided by the MCS model. A 3% forfeiture rate was applied to account for future cancellations and forfeitures. Durin g the three and
six month periods ended June 30, 2017, approximately $203,000 and $393,000, respectively, was recorded as stock-based compensation related to
the RSU Plan.
The following table sets forth the Company’s RSU activity for the six months ended June 30, 2017:
Unvested Number
of
Shares

Balance, December 31, 2016
Granted
Vested
Forfeited/cancelled
Unvested, June 30, 2017

719,000
87,500
—
—
806,500

Weighted Average
Fair
Value per Share

$
$

$

3.10
4.53
—
—
3.25

Unrecognized Share-based Compensation
As of June 30, 2017 and 2016, there were $2.7 million and $4.0 million, respectively, of unrecognized compensation expense related to employee
and non-employee options of the Company, which collectively is expected to be recognized by the Company over the weighted average vesting
period of 1.7 and 3.4 years, respectively. Unrecognized compensation expense for the same periods related to restricted shares was $290,000 and
$177,000, respectively, and is expected to be recognized over the weighted average vesting periods of 1.5 and 4.3 years, respectively.
(5) Concentration of Credit Risk
The Company had cash of $10.7 million and $7.3 million as of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively, which consists of checking
account deposits. The Company maintains cash balances at financial institutions located in the United States and secured by the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation up to $250,000.
In the six month periods ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 there were one and two customers, respectively, that represented 100% of total sales
recognized for each year. As of June 30, 2017, the Company was not authorized to manufacture or sell any of its products or services within the
United States and, as a result, all of the Company’s revenues are derived from foreign customers.
With respect to suppliers for the microlens, the Company had a five-year supplier agreement that expired in January 2017 with a lens manufacturer
in Israel from which the Company received 100% of its lens supply for use in commercial activities outside the United States. The Company uses
and plans to continue to use its own manufacturing facility in Irvine, California to manufacture its microlens. The Company may continue to use its
Israeli supplier if the outside of U.S. demand exceeds the Company’s internal manufacturing capability.
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(6) Income Taxes
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for temporary differences between financial statement and income tax carrying values,
using tax rates in effect for the years such differences are expected to reverse. Due to uncertainties surrounding the Company's ability to generate
future taxable income and consequently realize such deferred income tax assets, a full valuation allowance has been established. The Company
continues to maintain a full valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets as of June 30, 2017.
The impact of an uncertain income tax position on the income tax return must be recognized at the largest amount that is more likely than not to be
sustained upon audit by the relevant tax authority. An uncertain income tax position will not be recognized if it has less than a 50% likelihood of
being sustained. As of June 30, 2017, the Company does not have unrecognized tax benefits; and, as such, disclosures included in the Company's
2016 Annual Report on Form 10-K continue to be relevant for the period ended June 30, 2017.
(7) Commitments and Contingencies
T he Company extended the lease that expired in May 2017 by entering into a five-year non-cancelable lease for office and manufacturing space in
Irvine, California that expires in May 2022. The Company also entered a two-year lease in Dublin, Ireland that commenced on June 1, 2017, a 30month lease in Amsterdam, the Netherlands that commenced on January 1, 2016, and a four-year lease for office space in Irvine, California, that
commenced on August 1, 2016 and will expire September 2020. Aggregate rent expense for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was
$168,000 and $85,000, respectively, and for the six months ended for the same period was $337,000 and $170,000, respectively.
From time to time, the Company may be subject to legal proceedings and claims arising in the ordinary course of business. Management does not
believe that the outcome of any of these matters will have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial operations .
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ITEM 2.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OP ERATIONS.

Unless we state otherwise, the terms “we,” “us,” “our,” “Presbia” and the “Company” refer to Presbia PLC and its consolidated subsidiaries after
giving effect to the Reorganization Transactions. Prior to the completion of the Reorganization Transactions, the foregoing terms refer to the entities
that became the consolidated subsidiaries of Presbia PLC upon consummation of the Reorganization Transactions.
Our Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is organized as follows:
•

Overview. This section provides a general description of our Company and background information on certain trends and
developments affecting our Company.

•

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates. This section discusses those accounting policies that are considered important to the
evaluation and reporting of our financial condition and results of operations, and whose application requires us to exercise subjective or
complex judgments in making estimates and assumptions. In addition, all of our significant accounting policies, including our critical
accounting policies, are summarized in Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” of our notes to consolidated financial
statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016. There have been no material changes,
except for the adoption of new accounting standards as discussed elsewhere in this report.

•

Overview of Results of Operations. This section provides our analysis and outlook for the significant line items on our consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive loss, as well as other information that we deem meaningful to understand our results of
operations on a consolidated basis.

•

Liquidity and Capital Resources. This section provides an analysis of our liquidity and cash flows.

Overview
We are an ophthalmic device company which has developed and is currently marketing a proprietary optical lens implant for treating presbyopia, the
age-related loss of the ability to focus on near objects. Our microlens is a miniature lens designed to be surgically implanted in a patient’s eye to
improve that patient’s ability to see objects at close distances. Our current strategy is to focus on obtaining regulatory approval for our microlens in
the United States and to continue to commercialize our microlens in certain strategic countries where we currently have marketing approval. Our
goal is to become a leading provider of corneal inlay presbyopia-correcting treatment worldwide.
Although reading glasses and contact lenses have historically been, and remain, the most common solution for presbyopia, there are significant
drawbacks associated with these approaches, as well as with alternative surgical approaches. We believe that our microlens provides an alternative
solution to those presbyopic individuals who desire greater freedom from glasses and wish to avoid the daily maintenance and other complications of
contact lenses. We believe that our microlens can be both an effective standalone solution for presbyopia and an effective complementary solution
that can be used in conjunction with certain other surgical approaches that are used to treat vision disorders other than presbyopia.
Through our European Union CE Mark, we are generally authorized to market our microlens throughout the European Economic Area (all European
Union member states plus Iceland, Liechtenstein and Norway), or “EEA”, and through mutual recognition agreements, in Switzerland. We currently
market our microlens in certain strategic EEA countries as well as certain strategic countries outside of the EEA in which we possess marketing
approval.
We are focused on seeking marketing approval in the United States. In December 2013, we received approval to commence a staged pivotal clinical
trial as part of the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or “FDA”, approval process. Beginning in May 2014, we enrolled a total of 75 subjects at six
investigational sites in the United States and each subject underwent insertion of our microlens in the non-dominant eye. Based on nine-month data
on 52 subjects, in January 2015, we submitted an interim safety report as a supplement to our investigational device exemption, or “IDE”, to the
FDA. In February 2015, we received approval from the FDA to commence second stage enrollment in this trial. During September 2015, we
completed the enrollment of the second stage study of 346 subjects at up to five additional investigational sites. This trial is necessary in order to
obtain clinical data to provide the primary support for a safety and effectiveness evaluation to support a pre-market approval, or “PMA”, for marketing
clearance in the United States. Data on a minimum of 300 subjects with 24-month data will be submitted as part of the PMA, and all subjects will be
followed for three years following implantation. We are pursuing a modular PMA submission strategy whereby we submitted to the
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FDA information regarding biocompatibility in the second quarter of 2016. We submitted to the FDA the second a nd third PMA modules in the first
quarter of 2017, which contains information regarding preclinical testing, engineering and manufacturing. We are targeting submission to the FDA of
our final PMA module, containing 24-month data on 300 subjects, in the fou rth quarter of 2017. We are targeting PMA approval of our microlens in
the third quarter of 2018. We are also targeting submission to the FDA of a final report with 36-month data on these 300 subjects in the fourth
quarter of 2018.
These milestones could be delayed by further interactions with the FDA or by a variety of other factors. In addition, no assurance can be given that
the FDA will grant us PMA approval or, if granted, that it will be granted in accordance with our anticipated time schedule. Also, the FDA may
require us to conduct post-approval studies as a condition of approval.
We are a development stage ophthalmic device company with a limited operating history. We are not profitable and have incurred losses in each
year since our formation. We have reported recurring net losses and negative cash flow from operating activities since inception and, as of June 30,
2017, we had an accumulated deficit of $80.4 million. We expect to continue to incur significant losses for the foreseeable future.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The discussion and analysis of our consolidated financial statements and results of operations is based upon our consolidated financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, costs and expenses and related disclosures. We have based and will base our
estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. In many instances,
we could have reasonably used different accounting estimates, and in other instances changes in the accounting estimates are reasonably likely to
occur from period to period. Accordingly, actual results could differ significantly from the estimates made by our management. To the extent that
there are material differences between these estimates and actual results, our future financial statement presentation, financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows will be affected. We believe that the accounting policies discussed below are critical to understanding our historical and
future performance, as these policies relate to the more significant areas involving management’s judgments and estimates.
We describe our significant accounting policies in Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” of our notes to consolidated financial
statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016. We discuss our critical accounting policies and
estimates in Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2016. There have been no material changes in our significant accounting policies or critical accounting policies
and estimates since the year ended December 31, 2016.
Results of Operations
Comparison of the Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016 (in thousands)
Three-Months Ended June 30,
2017
2016

Revenues
Cost of goods sold
Gross loss
Operating expenses:
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Operating loss
Interest (expense) income
Loss before income tax provision
Income tax provision
Net loss

$

$

Change
$000's

%

— $
17
(17)

3 $
26
(23)

(3)
(9)
6

-100%
-35%
-26%

2,022
816
1,649
4,487
(4,504)
(4)
(4,508)
25
(4,533) $

1,244
733
1,881
3,858
(3,881)
5
(3,876)
6
(3,882) $

778
83
(232)
629
(623)
(9)
(632)
19
(651)

63%
11%
-12%
16%
16%
-180%
16%
317%
17%
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Six-Months Ended June 30,
2017
2016

Revenues
Cost of goods sold
Gross loss
Operating expenses:
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Operating loss
Interest (expense) income
Other income
Loss before income tax provision
Income tax provision
Net loss

$

$

Change
$000's

%

5 $
28
(23)

6 $
47
(41)

(1)
(19)
18

-17%
-40%
-44%

3,863
1,777
3,403
9,043
(9,066)
(18)
—
(9,084)
41
(9,125) $

2,538
1,412
3,659
7,609
(7,650)
9
1
(7,640)
9
(7,649) $

1,325
365
(256)
1,434
(1,416)
(27)
(1)
(1,444)
32
(1,476)

52%
26%
-7%
19%
19%
-300%
-100%
19%
356%
19%

Revenue
Revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2017 was $0 as compared to $3,000 for the corresponding period in 2016. Revenue for the six
months ended June 30, 2017 was $5,000 as compared to $6,000 for the corresponding period in 2016. Revenues were immaterial for both periods
presented and are expected to continue to be immaterial in the near-term due to the fact that in the near term we are undertaking limited
commercialization efforts in only a few selected markets. Unless and until we receive FDA approval to sell and market our microlens within the
United States, we are focusing our sales and marketing resources to sell our microlens to refractive laser centers outside the United States.
Cost of Goods Sold
Cost of goods sold was $17,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2017 as compared to $26,000 in the three months ended June 30, 2016, or a
reduction of $9,000, compared to a decrease of $3,000 in revenue for the same period. For the six months ended June 30, 2017 costs of goods sold
was $28,000 as compared to $47,000, or a reduction of $19,000, compared to a decrease of $1,000 in revenue for the same period. Cost of sales
includes inventory adjustments, such as a provision for inventory obsolescence, which can fluctuate from period to period depending upon the mix,
the current shelf life of lens inventory in relation to our regulated policy and the size of our finished goods inventory. During the three months ended
June 30, 2017 and 2016, we recorded additional provisions for inventory obsolescence of $19,000 and $25,000, respectively. For the six month
period ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, we recorded additional provisions for inventory obsolescence of $29,000 and $47,000, respectively.
Research and Development
Research and development expense increased by $778,000, or 63%, for the three months ended June 30, 2017 as compared to the same period in
2016. The increase in research and development spend was primarily due to (i) a $404,000 cost increase related to compensation related costs,
which were higher due to additional personnel costs from an increase in headcount, which included a transfer of personnel resources from the
general and administrative department (ii) a $164,000 cost increase related to our U.S. clinical trials attributed to 2017 costs incurred for data
monitoring and validation activities under both Phases I and II as compared to lower 2016 costs incurred for patient compliance activities, (iii)
$65,000 for higher allocated manufacturing costs, and (iv) $145,000 for higher regulatory and quality assurance costs related to the submission to
the FDA of the second and third PMA modules.
For the six months ended June 30 , 2017, research and development costs increased by $1.3 million, or 52% as compared to the same period in
2016. In the first quarter of 2017 we submitted to the FDA the second and third PMA modules, which resulted in higher expense levels in 2017 as
compared to 2016. The increase was primarily due to (i) a $720,000 compensation costs increase (described above), (ii) a $280,000 cost increase
related to our U.S. clinical trials (described above), (iii) $103,000 for higher allocated manufacturing costs, and (iv) $222,000 for higher regulatory
and quality assurance costs related to the submission to the FDA of the second and third PMA modules.
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During 2017, we expect that costs related to our U.S. staged pivotal clinical trial will continue to increase as compared to 2016, with the main focus
of the trials shifting from compliance to sub mission to the FDA of the remaining PMA modules.
Sales and Marketing
Sales and marketing expense increased by $83,000 or 11%, for the three months ended June 30, 2017 as compared to the three months ended
June 30, 2016. For the six months ended June 30, 2017, sales and marketing expense also increased by $365,000 or 26%, as compared to the
same period in 2016. The foregoing increases for both comparable periods were primarily related to higher advertising and promotional costs.
We continue to evaluate our commercialization strategy and may limit certain of our commercialization efforts to focus our resources on completing
our U.S. staged pivotal clinical trial.
General and Administrative
General and administrative expense decreased by $232,000, or 12%, for the three months ended June 30, 2017 as compared to the same period in
2016. General and administrative expenses declined primarily due to (i) reduced professional fees resulting from reduced accounting and tax fees of
$0.1 million and (ii) reduced stock-based compensation expense of $0.1 million. For the six months ended June 30, 2017, general and administrative
expense decreased by $256,000 or 7%, as compared to the same period in 2016. The foregoing decrease was primary related to (i) reduced
professional fees resulting from reduced accounting and tax fees of $0.2 million and (ii) reduced stock-based compensation expense of $0.1 million.
Interest Expense, net
Interest expense increased by $9,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2017 compared to an interest income of $5,000 for the same period in
2016. The change is due primarily to an increase in interest expense related to the Neoptics asset purchase.
Net Loss
Our net loss of $4.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2017 was $0.7 million higher, or 17% higher, than the net loss of $3.9 million in the
corresponding period in 2016. For the six months ended June 30, 2017, our net loss was $9.1 million as compared to $7.6 million or $1.5 million
higher for the comparable period in 2016. We expect that losses will continue through 2018, and possibly further, due to anticipated costs related to
our U.S. staged pivotal clinical trial and ongoing costs required to develop the market outside of the United States for our microlens.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
In March 2017, we closed a rights offering, pursuant to which we raised approximately $10.8 million in gross proceeds through the sale of 3,611,764
of its ordinary shares at a subscription price of $3.00 per whole share. At June 30, 2017, we had cash of $10.7 million, reflecting a $3.4 million
increase from our cash balance at December 31, 2016 of $7.3 million. The increase reflects the rights offering proceeds, reduced by the use of cash
to fund operations during the first six months of 2017 of approximately $7.1 million.
Our primary uses of cash are to fund operating expenses, primarily general and administrative expenditures and research and development
expenditures. Cash used to fund operating expenses is impacted by the timing of when we pay these expenses, as reflected in the change in our
outstanding accounts payable and accrued expenses.
Our future capital requirements are difficult to forecast and will depend on many factors, including:
•

the progress, timing, costs and completion of U.S. staged pivotal clinical trial;

•

the outcome, timing and cost of regulatory approvals;

•

delays that may be caused by changing regulatory requirements;

•

timing and amount of revenue resulting from sales to customers outside the US; and

•

timing and amount of investments in our commercialization efforts outside the U.S.
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The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods indicated:
Six-Months Ended June 30,
2017
2016

Net cash used in operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities

$
$
$

(7,127) $
(94) $
10,485 $

(7,056)
(52)
1

At June 30, 2017, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $80.4 million and we expect to incur additional operating losses through 2018,
and possibly further. As we continue to incur losses, our transition to profitability will depend on the successful development, approval and
commercialization of our microlens. We may never achieve profitability, and unless and until we do, we will need to continue to raise additional
capital. Based on our current business plan, we believe that our cash and cash equivalents at June 30, 2017 will not be sufficient to meet our
anticipated cash requirements through twelve months from the issuance date of these interim financial statements.
Our current commercialization strategy is targeted to countries where we believe we can both establish the market for our technology and achieve
positive cash flow from such geographic market as soon as possible. We continue to evaluate this commercialization strategy and, in the future, we
may limit our commercialization efforts to preserve our existing cash. Our U.S. pivotal clinical trial and planned FDA approval is our highest
priority. That priority, coupled with our current commercialization efforts outside the U.S., will likely result in our need to raise additional capital to
fund our operations. We may raise additional capital through equity offerings, debt financings, collaborations and/or licensing arrangements.
Additional funds may not be available when we need them on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all. If adequate funds are not available on
acceptable terms, we may be required to delay, reduce the scope of, or curtail, our operations. To the extent that we raise additional funds by issuing
equity securities, our shareholders will experience dilution, and debt financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants.
Going Concern
Management does not expect existing cash to be sufficient to fund the Company’s operations for at least twelve months from the issuance date of
these interim financial statements. As of the period ended June 30, 2017, the Company has incurred losses totaling $80.4 million since inception,
has not yet generated material revenue from operations, and will require additional funds to maintain our operations. These factors raise substantial
doubt regarding the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after these interim financial statements are issued. The
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon its ability to generate future profitable operations and/or obtain the necessary
financing to meet its obligations and repay its liabilities arising from normal business operations when they become due. The Company intends to
finance operating costs over the next twelve months through its existing financial resources and we will need to raise additional capital through
equity offerings, debt financings, collaborations and/or licensing arrangements. If adequate funds are not available on acceptable terms, we may be
required to delay, reduce the scope of, or curtail, our operations. The accompanying financial statements do not include any adjustments to the
recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to
continue as a going concern.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements and do not have any holdings in variable interest entities.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Refer to Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” of our notes to consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for a discussion of new accounting standards.
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ITEM 3.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATI VE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Under Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, rules and regulations, as a smaller reporting company we are not required to provide the
information otherwise required by this item.
ITEM 4.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) as of
the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how
well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment
in evaluating the cost benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on such evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer have concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this report, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15(d) and 15d15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during the quarter ended June 30, 2017 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
We are not aware of any pending or threatened legal proceeding against us that could have a material adverse effect on our business,
operating results or financial condition. However, the medical device industry is characterized by frequent claims and litigation,
including claims regarding patent and other intellectual property rights as well as improper hiring practices. As a result, we may be
involved in various legal proceedings from time to time.

ITEM 1A.

RISK FACTORS
Please refer to “Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016, filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 29, 2017 for a description of certain significant risks and uncertainties to which our
business, operations and financial condition are subject. Except as set forth below, there have been no material changes to the risk
factors disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016.

There is substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern.
We are an ophthalmic device company with a limited operating history. We do not possess the regulatory approvals necessary to market our
products in the United States, and we continue to incur significant research and development, sales and marketing and general and administrative
expenses related to our operations. As a result, we have not generated any significant revenue from operations since inception, and we have
incurred substantial net losses to date. Our net losses for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and for the years ended December 31, 2016 and
2015 were $9.1 million, $15.8 million and $18.2 million, respectively. As of June 30, 2017, we had an accumulated deficit of $80.4 million. As of
August 11, 2017, we believe that our current cash on hand will meet our anticipated cash requirements through the first of 2018. We will need to
obtain additional cash to continue operations and fund our planned future operations, which include seeking regulatory approval for our microlens
and pursuing its commercialization in the United States, as well as other geographies where we have regulatory approval. Those circumstances
raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. In particular and as discussed in greater detail below under the risk factor
entitled “ Based on our current plan, we need additional capital to support our operations and may be unable to raise capital when needed .
” As of August 11, 2017, we believe that our current cash on hand will meet our anticipated cash requirements through the first quarter of 2018.
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Based on our current plan , we need additional capital to support our operations and may be unable to raise capital when needed .
Based on our current business plan, we believe that our cash at June 30, 2017, coupled with anticipated revenues outside of the United States will
be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash requirements through the first quarter of 2018. Our current commercialization strategy is targeted to
countries where we believe we can both establish the market for our technology and achieve positive cash flow from such geographic market as
soon as possible. This commercialization strategy will undergo continual prioritization and in the future we may adjust our commercialization efforts
to preserve our existing cash or realize better results than anticipated which could have a positive impact on cash. Our U.S. pivotal clinical trial and
planned FDA approval is our highest priority. That priority, coupled with our current commercialization efforts outside the U.S., will likely result in our
need to raise additional capital to fund our operations. We may raise additional capital through equity offerings, debt financings, collaborations
and/or licensing arrangements. Additional funds may not be available when we need them on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all. If adequate
funds are not available, we may be required to delay, reduce the scope of, or curtail, our operations. To the extent that we raise additional funds by
issuing equity securities, our shareholders will experience dilution, and debt financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants.
ITEM 2.

UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
Not applicable.

ITEM 3.

DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
None.

ITEM 4.

MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not Applicable.

ITEM 5.

OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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ITEM 6.
Exhibit
Number

EXHIBITS
Exhibit Description

3.1+

Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association of Presbia PLC

31.1+

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Required by Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2+

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Required by Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1*

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Accounting Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS+

XBRL Instance

101.SCH+

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

101.CAL+

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation

101.DEF+

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition

101.LAB+

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label

101.PRE+

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation

+

Indicates filed herewith.

*

Indicates furnished herewith
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SIGNAT URES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
PRESBIA PLC
Date: August 11, 2017

By: /s/ Todd Cooper
Todd Cooper
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: August 11, 2017

By: /s/ Jarett Fenton
Jarett Fenton
Chief Financial Officer,
Vice President, Finance and Secretary
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Exhibit 3.1

Companies Act 2014
A PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY

CONSTITUTION
of
PRESBIA PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY

(Amended and restated by special resolution dated August 3, 2017)

Cert No: 539137
Companies Act 2014
A PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY
MEMORANDUM OF ASSOCIATION
of
PRESBIA PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY
(Amended and restated by special resolution dated
August 3, 2017)
1.

The name of the Company is Presbia public limited company.

2.

The Company is a public limited company, deemed to be a PLC to which Part 17 of the Companies Act 2014 applies.

3.

The objects for which the Company is established are:
3.1
(a)

To engage in developing, manufacturing, selling, marketing, distributing or otherwise commercializing
medical devices and other products and procedures related to vision and all associated and related activities
and to carry on various activities associated with that object.

(b)

To carry on the business of a holding company and to co-ordinate the administration, finances and activities
of any subsidiary companies or associated companies, to do all lawful acts and things whatever that are
necessary or convenient in carrying on the business of such a holding company and in particular to carry on
in all its branches the business of a management services company, to act as managers and to direct or
coordinate the management of other companies or of the business, property and estates of any company or
person and to undertake and carry out all such services in connection therewith as may be deemed expedient
by the Company’s board of directors and to exercise its powers as a shareholder of other companies.

(c)

To acquire the entire issued share capital of Presbia Ireland, Limited, a private limited company
incorporated under the laws of Ireland.

3.2

To acquire shares, stocks, debentures, debenture stock, bonds, obligations and securities by original subscription,
tender, purchase, exchange or otherwise and to subscribe for the same either conditionally or otherwise, and to
guarantee the subscription thereof and to exercise and enforce all rights and powers conferred by or incidental to the
ownership thereof.

3.3

To facilitate and encourage the creation, issue or conversion of and to offer for public subscription debentures,
debenture stocks, bonds, obligations, shares, stocks, and securities and to act as trustees in connection with any such
securities and to take part in the conversion of business concerns and undertakings into companies.

3.4

To purchase or by any other means acquire any freehold, leasehold or other property and in particular lands, tenements
and hereditaments of any tenure, whether subject or not to any charges or encumbrances, for any estate or interest
whatever, and any rights, privileges or easements over or in respect of any property, and any buildings, factories, mills,
works, wharves, roads, machinery, engines, plant, live and dead stock, barges,
2

vessels or things, and any real or personal property or rights whatsoever which may be nec essary for, or may
conveniently be used with, or may enhance the value or property of the Company, and to hold or to sell, let, alienate,
mortgage, charge or otherwise deal with all or any such freehold, leasehold, or other property, lands, tenements or he
reditaments, rights, privileges or easements.
3.5

To sell or otherwise dispose of any of the property or investments of the Company on such terms and subject to such
conditions as for such consideration (if any) as the Directors think fit.

3.6

To establish and contribute to any scheme for the purchase of shares in the Company to be held for the benefit of the
Company’s employees and, to the extent permitted by law, to lend or otherwise provide money to such schemes or the
Company’s employees or the employees of any of its subsidiary or associated companies to enable them to purchase
shares of the Company.

3.7

To grant, convey, transfer or otherwise dispose of any property or asset of the Company of whatever nature or tenure
for such price, consideration, sum or other return whether equal to or less than the market value thereof and whether by
way of gift or otherwise as the Directors shall deem fit and to grant any fee, farm grant or lease or to enter into any
agreement for letting or hire of any such property or asset for a rent or return equal to or less than the market or rack
rent therefor or at no rent and subject to or free from covenants and restrictions as the Directors shall deem appropriate.

3.8

To acquire and undertake the whole or any part of the business, good-will and assets of any person, firm or company
carrying on or proposing to carry on any of the businesses which this Company is authorised to carry on, and as part of
the consideration for such acquisition to undertake all or any of the liabilities of such person, firm or company, or to
acquire an interest in, amalgamate with, or enter into any arrangement for sharing profits, or for co-operation, or for
limiting competition or for mutual assistance with any such person, firm or company and to give or accept by way of
consideration for any of the acts or things aforesaid or property acquired, any shares, debentures, debenture stock or
securities that may be agreed upon, and to hold and retain or sell, mortgage or deal with any shares, debentures,
debenture stock or securities so received.

3.9

To apply for, purchase or otherwise acquire any patents, brevets d’invention, licences, concessions and the like
conferring any exclusive or non-exclusive or limited rights to use or any secret or other information as to any invention
which may seem capable of being used for any of the purposes of the Company or the acquisition of which may seem
calculated directly or indirectly to benefit the Company, and to use, exercise, develop or grant licences in respect of or
otherwise turn to account the property, rights or information so acquired.

3.10

To enter into partnership or into any arrangement for sharing profits, union of interests, co-operation, joint venture,
reciprocal concession or otherwise with any person or company carrying on or engaged in or about to carry on or
engage in any business or transaction which the Company is authorised to carry on or engage in or any business or
transaction capable of being conducted so as directly to benefit the Company.

3.11

To invest and deal with the monies of the Company not immediately required upon such securities and in such manner
as may from time to time be determined.

3.12

To lend money to and guarantee the performance of the contracts or obligations of any company, firm or person, and
the repayment of the capital and principal of, and dividends, interest or premiums payable on, any stock, shares and
securities of any
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company, whether having objects similar to those of this Company or not, and to give all kinds of indemnities.
3.13

To engage in currency exchange and interest rate transactions including, but not limited to, dealings in foreign
currency, spot and forward rate exchange contracts, futures, options, forward rate agreements, swaps, caps, floors,
collars and any other foreign exchange or interest rate hedging arrangements and such other instruments as are similar
to, or derived from, any of the foregoing whether for the purpose of making a profit or avoiding a loss or managing a
currency or interest rate exposure or any other exposure or for any other purpose.

3.14

To guarantee, support or secure, whether by personal covenant or by mortgaging or charging all or any part of the
undertaking, property and assets (both present and future) and uncalled capital of the Company, or by both such
methods, the performance of the obligations of, and the repayment or payment of the principal amounts of and
premiums, interest and dividends on any securities of, any person, firm or company including (without prejudice to the
generality of the foregoing) any company which is for the time being the Company’s holding company as defined by
the Companies Act 2014 (or any successor legislation) or a subsidiary as therein defined of any such holding company
or otherwise associated with the Company in business.

3.15

To borrow or secure the payment of money in such manner as the Company shall think fit, and in particular by the
issue of debentures, debenture stocks, bonds, obligations and securities of all kinds, either perpetual or terminable and
either redeemable or otherwise and to secure the repayment of any money borrowed, raised or owing by trust deed,
mortgage, charge, or lien upon the whole or any part of the Company’s property or assets (whether present or future)
including its uncalled capital, and also by a similar trust deed, mortgage, charge or lien to secure and guarantee the
performance by the Company of any obligation or liability it may undertake.

3.16

To draw, make, accept, endorse, discount, execute, negotiate and issue promissory notes, bills of exchange, bills of
lading, warrants, debentures and other negotiable or transferable instruments.

3.17

To subscribe for, take, purchase or otherwise acquire and hold shares or other interests in, or securities of any other
company having objects altogether or in part similar to those of this Company, or carrying on any business capable of
being conducted so as directly or indirectly to benefit this Company.

3.18

To hold in trust as trustees or as nominees and to deal with, manage and turn to account, any real or personal property
of any kind, and in particular shares, stocks, debentures, securities, policies, book debts, claims and choses in actions,
lands, buildings, hereditaments, business concerns and undertakings, mortgages, charges, annuities, patents, licences,
and any interest in real or personal property, and any claims against such property or against any person or company.

3.19

To constitute any trusts with a view to the issue of preferred and deferred or other special stocks or securities based on
or representing any shares, stocks and other assets specifically appropriated for the purpose of any such trust and to
settle and regulate and if thought fit to undertake and execute any such trusts and to issue, dispose of or hold any such
preferred, deferred or other special stocks or securities.

3.20

To give any guarantee in relation to the payment of any debentures, debenture stock, bonds, obligations or securities
and to guarantee the payment of interest thereon or of dividends on any stocks or shares of any company.
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3.21

To construct, erect an d maintain buildings, houses, flats, shops and all other works, erections, and things of any
description whatsoever either upon the lands acquired by the Company or upon other lands and to hold, retain as
investments or to sell, let, alienate, mortgage, ch arge or deal with all or any of the same and generally to alter, develop
and improve the lands and other property of the Company.

3.22

To provide for the welfare of persons in the employment of or holding office under or formerly in the employment of
or holding office under the Company including Directors and ex-Directors of the Company and the wives, widows and
families, dependants or connections of such persons by grants of money, pensions or other payments and by forming
and contributing to pension, provident or benefit funds or profit sharing or co-partnership schemes for the benefit of
such persons and to form, subscribe to or otherwise aid charitable, benevolent, religious, scientific, national or other
institutions, exhibitions or objects which shall have any moral or other claims to support or aid by the Company by
reason of the locality of its operation or otherwise.

3.23

To remunerate by cash payments or allotment of shares or securities of the Company credited as fully paid up or
otherwise any person or company for services rendered or to be rendered to the Company whether in the conduct or
management of its business, or in placing or assisting to place or guaranteeing the placing of any of the shares of the
Company’s capital, or any debentures or other securities of the Company or in or about the formation or promotion of
the Company.

3.24

To enter into and carry into effect any arrangement for joint working in business or for sharing of profits or for
amalgamation with any other company or association or any partnership or person carrying on any business within the
objects of the Company.

3.25

To distribute in specie or otherwise as may be resolved, any assets of the Company among its members and in
particular the shares, debentures or other securities of any other company belonging to this Company or of which this
Company may have the power of disposing.

3.26

To vest any real or personal property, rights or interest acquired or belonging to the Company in any person or
company on behalf of or for the benefit of the Company, and with or without any declared trust in favour of the
Company.

3.27

To transact or carry on any business which may seem to be capable of being conveniently carried on in connection with
any of these objects or calculated directly or indirectly to enhance the value of or facilitate the realisation of or render
profitable any of the Company’s property or rights.

3.28

To accept stock or shares in or debentures, mortgages or securities of any other company in payment or part payment
for any services rendered or for any sale made to or debt owing from any such company, whether such shares shall be
wholly or partly paid up.

3.29

To pay all costs, charges and expenses incurred or sustained in or about the promotion and establishment of the
Company or which the Company shall consider to be preliminary thereto and to issue shares as fully or in part paid up,
and to pay out of the funds of the Company all brokerage and charges incidental thereto.

3.30

To procure the Company to be registered or recognised in any part of the world.

3.31

To do all or any of the matters hereby authorised in any part of the world or in conjunction with or as trustee or agent
for any other company or person or by or through any factors, trustees or agents.
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3.32

To make gifts, pay gratuities or grant bonuses to current and former Directors (including substitute and alternate
directors), officers or employees of the Company or to make gifts or pay gratuities to any person on their behalf or to
charitable organisations, trusts or other bodies corporate nominated by any suc h person.

3.33

To do all such other things that the Company may consider incidental or conducive to the attainment of the above
objects or as are usually carried on in connection therewith.

3.34

To carry on any business which the Company may lawfully engage in and to do all such things incidental or conducive
to the business of the Company.

3.35

To make or receive gifts by way of capital contribution or otherwise.

The objects set forth in any sub-clause of this clause shall be regarded as independent objects and shall not, except where the
context expressly so requires, be in any way limited or restricted by reference to or inference from the terms of any other subclause, or by the name of the Company. None of such sub-clauses or the objects therein specified or the powers thereby conferred
shall be deemed subsidiary or auxiliary merely to the objects mentioned in the first sub-clause of this clause, but the Company
shall have full power to exercise all or any of the powers conferred by any part of this clause in any part of the world
notwithstanding that the business, property or acts proposed to be transacted, acquired or performed do not fall within the objects
of the first sub-clause of this clause.
NOTE:

It is hereby declared that the word “company” in this clause, except where used in reference to this Company shall be
deemed to include any partnership or other body of persons whether incorporated or not incorporated and whether
domiciled in Ireland or elsewhere and the intention is that the objects specified in each paragraph of this clause shall
except where otherwise expressed in such paragraph be in no way limited or restricted by reference to or inference
from the terms of any other paragraph.

4.

The liability of the members is limited.

5.

The share capital of the Company is US$400,000 and €40,000 divided into 350,000,000 ordinary shares of US$0.001 each,
50,000,000 preferred shares of US$0.001 each and 40,000 deferred ordinary shares of €1.00 each.

6.

The shares forming the capital, increased or reduced, may be increased or reduced and be divided into such classes and issued with
any special rights, privileges and conditions or with such qualifications as regards preference, dividend, capital, voting or other
special incidents, and be held upon such terms as may be attached thereto or as may from time to time be provided by the original
or any substituted or amended articles of association and regulations of the Company for the time being, but so that where shares
are issued with any preferential or special rights attached thereto such rights shall not be alterable otherwise than pursuant to the
provisions of the Company’s articles of association for the time being.

COMPANIES ACT 2014
A PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY
ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION
-of6

PRESBIA PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY
(Amended and restated by special resolution dated

August 3, 2017)

PRELIMINARY
1.

2.

The provisions set out in these articles of association shall constitute the whole of the regulations applicable to the Company and
no “optional provision” as defined by section 1007(2) of the Companies Act (with the exceptions of sections 83 and 84) shall
apply to the Company.
(a)In these articles:
“1996 Regulations” means the Companies Act, 1990 (Uncertificated Securities) Regulations, 1996, S.I. No. 68 of 1996,
including any modification thereof or any regulations in substitution thereof made under section 239 of the Companies
Act 1990 and for the time being in force.
“Acts” means the Companies Act, all statutory instruments which are to be read as one with, or construed or read
together as one with, the Companies Act or Acts and every statutory modification and re-enactment thereof for the time
being in force.
“address” includes any number or address used for the purposes of communication by way of electronic mail or other
electronic communication.
“Affiliate” means a person that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls or is controlled by,
or is under common control with, another person.
“Approved Nominee”
means a person appointed un der contractual arrangements with the Company to hold
Shares or rights or interests in Shares on a nominee basis including, without limitation, in connection with the provision
of depository, system operator and/or book-entry transfer services;
“Assistant Secretary” means any person appointed by the Secretary from time to time to assist the Secretary.
“Associate”, when used to indicate a relationship with any person, means: (A) any company, partnership,
unincorporated association or other entity of which such person is a director, executive officer, partner or general
partner or is, directly or indirectly, the owner of 20% or more of any class of voting shares; (B) any trust or other estate
in which such person has at least a 20% beneficial interest or as to which such person serves as trustee or in a similar
fiduciary capacity; and (C) any relative or spouse of such person, or any relative of such spouse, who has the same
residence as such person.
“Auditors” means the auditors of the Company from time to time.
“Clear Days” in relation to the period of notice, means that period excluding the day when the notice is given or
deemed to be given and the day for which it is given or on which it is to take effect.
“Chairman” means the Director who is elected by the Directors from time to time to preside as chairman at all meetings
of the Board and at general meetings of the Company.
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“Companies Act” means the Companies Act 2014 and every statutory modification and re-enactment thereof for the
time being in force.
“CSD Regulation” means any regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on improving securities
settlement in the European Union and on central securities depositories and amending Directive 98/26/EC.
“electronic communication” has the meaning given to those words in the Electronic Commerce Act 2000.
“electronic signature” has the meaning given to those words in the Electronic Commerce Act 2000.
“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, of the United States of America.
“IAS Regulation” means Regulation (EC) no. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19 July
2002 on the application of international accounting standards.
“Ordinary Resolution” means an ordinary resolution of the Company’s members of which the requisite notice has been
given and which has been passed by a simple majority of those present in person or by proxy at the meeting and who
were entitled to vote.
“Properly Authenticated Dematerialised Instruction” has the meaning given to it in the 1996 Regulations.
“public announcement” means disclosure in a press release reported by a national news service or in a document
publicly filed by the Company with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to section 13, 14 or 15(d)
of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.
“Redeemable Shares” means redeemable shares in accordance with the Acts.
“Register” means the register of members to be kept as required in accordance with the Acts.
“Relevant System” has the meaning given to it in the 1996 Regulations.
“Special Resolution” means a special resolution of the Company’s members within the meaning of the Acts.
“subsidiary” has the meaning given to it in the Acts.
“the Company” means the company whose name appears in the heading to these articles.
“the Directors” or “the Board” means the directors from time to time and for the time being of the Company or the
directors present at a meeting of the board of directors and includes any person occupying the position of director by
whatever name called and “Director” shall be construed accordingly.
“the Holder” in relation to any share, means the member whose name is entered in the Register as the holder of the
share or, where the context permits, the members whose names are entered in the Register as the joint holders of
shares.
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“the Office” means the registered office from time to time and for the time being of the Company.
“the seal” means the common seal of the Company and includes any duplicate seal.
“the Secretary” means any person appointed to perform the duties of the secretary of the Company and includes an
Assistant Secretary and any person appointed by the board to perform the duties of the secretary of the Company.
“these articles” means the articles of association of which this article forms part, as the same may be amended and may
be from time to time and for the time being in force.
(b)

Expressions in these articles referring to writing shall be construed, unless the contrary intention appears, as including
references to printing, lithography, photography and any other modes of representing or reproducing words in a visible
form except as provided in these articles and/or where it constitutes writing in electronic form sent to the Company,
and the Company has agreed to its receipt in such form. Expressions in these articles referring to execution of any
document shall include any mode of execution whether under seal or under hand or any mode of electronic signature as
shall be approved by the Directors. Expressions in these articles referring to receipt of any electronic communications
shall, unless the contrary intention appears, be limited to receipt in such manner as the Company has approved.

(c)

Unless the contrary intention appears, words or expressions contained in these articles shall bear the same meaning as
in the Acts or in any statutory modification thereof in force at the date at which these articles become binding on the
Company.

(d)

A reference to a statute or statutory provision shall be construed as a reference to the laws of Ireland unless otherwise
specified and includes:
(i)

any subordinate legislation made under it including all regulations, by-laws, orders and codes made
thereunder;

(ii)

any repealed statute or statutory provision which it re-enacts (with or without modification); and

(iii)

any statute or statutory provision which modifies, consolidates, re-enacts or supersedes it.

(e)

The masculine gender shall include the feminine and neuter, and vice versa, and the singular number shall include the
plural, and vice versa, and words importing persons shall include firms or companies.

(f)

Reference to US$, USD, or dollars shall mean the currency of the United States of America and to €, euro, EUR or cent
shall mean the currency of Ireland.
SHARE CAPITAL AND VARIATION OF RIGHTS

3.

(a)The share capital of the Company is US$400,000 and €40,000 divided into 350,000,000 ordinary shares of
US$0.001 each (the “ Ordinary Shares ”), 50,000,000 preferred shares of US$0.001 each (the “ Preferred Shares ”)
and 40,000 deferred ordinary shares of €1.00 each (the “ Deferred Ordinary Shares ”).
(b)

The rights and restrictions attaching to the Ordinary Shares shall be as follows:
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(i)

subject to the right of the Company to set record dates for the purposes of determining the identity of
Holders entitled to notice of and/or to vote at a general meeting, the right to attend and speak at any general
meeting of the Company and to exercise one vote per Ordinary Share held at any general meeting of the
Company;

(ii)

the right to participate pro rata in all dividends declared by the Company; and

(iii)

the right, in the event of the Company’s winding up, to participate pro rata in the total assets of the
Company.

The rights attaching to the Ordinary Shares may be subject to the terms of issue of any series or class of preferred
shares allotted by the Directors from time to time in accordance with article.
(c)

The Directors may issue and allot Deferred Ordinary Shares subject to the rights, privileges, limitations and restrictions
set out in this article:
(i)

Income
The Holder of a Deferred Ordinary Share shall not be entitled to receive any dividend or distribution
declared, made or paid or any return of capital (save as provided for in this article) and shall not entitle its
holder to any further or other right of participation in the assets of the Company.

(ii)

Capital
On a winding up of, or other return of capital (other than on a redemption of any class of shares in the
capital of the Company) by the Company, the Holders of Deferred Ordinary Shares shall be entitled to
participate in such return of capital or winding up of the Company, such entitlement to be limited to the
repayment of the amount paid up or credited as paid up on such Deferred Ordinary Shares and shall be paid
only after the Holders of Ordinary Shares shall have received payment in respect of such amount as is paid
up or credited as paid up on those Ordinary Shares held by them at that time, plus the payment in cash of
US$5,000,000 on each such Ordinary Share.

(iii)

Acquisition of Deferred Ordinary Shares
The Company as agent for the Holders of Deferred Ordinary Shares shall have the irrevocable authority to
authorise and instruct the Secretary (or any other person appointed for the purpose by the Directors) to
acquire, or to accept the surrender of, the Deferred Ordinary Shares for no consideration and to execute on
behalf of such Holders such documents as are necessary in connection with such acquisition or surrender,
and pending such acquisition or surrender to retain the certificates, to the extent issued, for such Deferred
Ordinary Shares. Any request by the Company to acquire, or for the surrender of, any Deferred Ordinary
Shares may be made by the Directors depositing at the Office a notice addressed to such person as the
Directors shall have nominated on behalf of the Holders of Deferred Ordinary Shares. A person whose
shares have been acquired or surrendered in accordance with this article shall cease to be a Holder in respect
of such Deferred Ordinary Shares but shall notwithstanding remain liable to pay the Company all monies
which, at the date of acquisition or surrender, were payable by him or her to the Company in respect of such
shares, but his or her liability shall cease if and when the Company has received payment in full of all such
monies in respect of such shares. A notice issued
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pursuant to this paragraph shall be deemed to be validly issued notwithstanding the provisions of articles
141 to 146 inclusive.
(iv)

Voting
The Holders of Deferred Ordinary Shares shall not be entitled to receive notice of, nor attend, speak or vote
at, any general meeting.

The rights attaching to the Deferred Ordinary Shares may be subject to the terms of issue of any series or class of
preferred shares allotted by the Directors from time to time in accordance with article 3(d).
(d)

The Directors are authorised to issue all or any of the authorised but unissued Preferred Shares from time to time in one
or more classes or series, and to fix for each such class or series such voting power, full or limited, or no voting power,
and such designations, preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights and such qualifications,
limitations or restrictions thereof, as shall be stated and expressed in the resolution or resolutions adopted by the Board
providing for the issuance of such class or series, including, without limitation, the authority to provide that any such
class or series may be:
(i)

redeemable at the option of the Company, or the Holders, or both, with the manner of the redemption to be
set by the Board, and redeemable at such time or times, including upon a fixed date, and at such price or
prices;

(ii)

entitled to receive dividends (which may be cumulative or non-cumulative) at such rates, on such conditions
and at such times, and payable in preference to, or in such relation to, the dividends payable on any other
class or classes of shares or any other series;

(iii)

entitled to such rights upon the dissolution of, or upon any distribution of the assets of, the Company; or

(iv)

convertible into, or exchangeable for, shares of any other class or classes of shares, or of any other series of
the same or any other class or classes of shares, of the Company at such price or prices or at such rates of
exchange and with such adjustments as the Directors determine,

which rights and restrictions may be as stated in such resolution or resolutions of the Directors as determined by them
in accordance with this article. The Board may at any time before the allotment of any Preferred Share by further
resolution in any way amend the designations, preferences, rights, qualifications, limitations or restrictions, or vary or
revoke the designations of such Preferred Shares.
The rights conferred upon the Holder of any pre-existing shares in the share capital of the Company shall be deemed
not to be varied by the creation, issue and allotment of Preferred Shares in accordance with this article.
(e)

Unless the Board specifically elects to treat such acquisition as a purchase for the purpose of the Acts, an Ordinary
Share shall be deemed to be a Redeemable Share on, and from the time of, the existence or creation of an agreement,
transaction or trade between the Company and any third party pursuant to which the Company acquires or will acquire
Ordinary Shares, or an interest in Ordinary Shares, from such third party. In these circumstances, the acquisition of
such shares or interest in shares by the Company shall constitute the redemption of a Redeemable Share in accordance
with the Acts.
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4.

Subject to the provisions of the Acts and the other provisions of this article, the Company may:
(a)

pursuant to the Acts, issue any shares of the Company which are to be redeemed or are liable to be redeemed at the
option of the Company or the Holder on such terms and in such manner as may be determined by the Company in
general meeting (by Special Resolution) on the recommendation of the Directors; or

(b)

subject to and in accordance with the provisions of the Acts and without prejudice to any relevant special rights
attached to any class of shares, pursuant to the Acts, purchase any of its own shares (including any Redeemable Shares
and without any obligation to purchase on any pro rata basis as between Holders or Holders of the same class) and may
cancel any shares so purchased or hold them as treasury shares (as defined in the Acts) and may reissue any such shares
as shares of any class or classes; or

(c)

pursuant to the Acts, convert any of its shares into redeemable shares; or

(d)

redeem Shares of the Company on such terms as may be contained in, or be determined pursuant to the provisions of,
these Articles. Subject to the foregoing, the Company may cancel any Shares so redeemed or may hold them as
treasury shares and re-issue such treasury shares as Shares of any class or classes or cancel them.

5.

Without prejudice to any special rights previously conferred on the Holders of any existing shares or class of shares, any share in
the Company may be issued with such preferred or deferred or other special rights or such restrictions, whether in regard to
dividend, voting, return of capital or otherwise, as the Company may from time to time by Ordinary Resolution determine.

6.

(a)Without prejudice to the authority conferred on the Directors pursuant to article 3 to issue Preferred Shares and the
Deferred Ordinary Shares in the capital of the Company, if at any time the share capital is divided into different classes
of shares, the rights attached to any class may, whether or not the Company is being wound up, be varied or abrogated
with the sanction of a Special Resolution passed at a separate general meeting of the Holders of the shares of that class,
provided that, if the relevant class of Holders has only one Holder, that person present in person or by proxy, shall
constitute the necessary quorum for such a meeting. To every such meeting the provisions of article 36 shall apply.

7.

(b)

The redemption or purchase of Preferred Shares or any class of preferred shares shall not constitute a variation of rights
of the preferred Holders where the redemption or purchase of the Preferred Shares has been authorised solely by a
resolution of the ordinary Holders.

(c)

The issue, redemption or purchase of any of the Preferred Shares shall not constitute a variation of the rights of the
Holders of Ordinary Shares.

(d)

The issue of Preferred Shares or any class of preferred shares which rank pari passu with, or junior to, any existing
Preferred Shares or class of preferred shares shall not constitute a variation of the existing Preferred Shares or class of
preferred shares.

The rights conferred upon the Holders of the shares of any class issued with preferred or other rights shall not, unless otherwise
expressly provided by the terms of issue of the shares of that class, be deemed to be varied by the creation or issue of further
shares ranking pari passu therewith.
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8.

(a) Subject to the provisions of these articles relating to new shares, the shares shall be at the disposal of the Directors,
and they may (subject to the provisions of the Acts) allot, grant options over or otherwise dispose of them to such
persons, on such terms and conditions and at such tim es as they may consider to be in the best interests of the
Company and its Holders, but so that no share shall be issued at a discount save in accordance with the Acts, and so
that, in the case of shares offered to the public for subscription, the amount p ayable on application on each share shall
not be less than one-quarter of the nominal amount of the share and the whole of any premium thereon.
(b)

Subject to any requirement to obtain the approval of Holders under any laws, regulations or the rules of any stock
exchange to which the Company is subject, the Board is authorised, from time to time, in its discretion, to grant such
persons, for such periods and upon such terms as the Board deems advisable, options to purchase or subscribe for such
number of shares of any class or classes or of any series of any class as the Board may deem advisable, and to cause
warrants or other appropriate instruments evidencing such options to be issued.

(c)

The Directors are, for the purposes of section 1021 of the Act, generally and unconditionally authorised to exercise all
powers of the Company to allot and issue relevant securities (as defined by section 1021) up to the amount of
Company’s authorised share capital and to allot and issue any shares purchased or redeemed by or on behalf of the
Company pursuant to the provisions of the Acts and held as treasury shares and this authority shall expire five years
from the date of the initial adoption of these articles (being 23 January 2014). The Company may before the expiry of
such authority make an offer or agreement which would or might require relevant securities to be allotted after such
expiry and the Directors may allot relevant securities in pursuance of such an offer or agreement notwithstanding that
the authority hereby conferred has expired.

(d)

The Directors are hereby empowered pursuant to the Acts to allot equity securities within the meaning of the Acts for
cash pursuant to the authority conferred by paragraph (c) of this article as if the Acts did not apply to any such
allotment. The Company may before the expiry of such authority make an offer or agreement which would or might
require equity securities to be allotted after such expiry and the Directors may allot equity securities in pursuance of
such an offer or agreement as if the power conferred by this paragraph (d) had not expired.

(e)

Nothing in these articles shall preclude the Directors from recognising a renunciation of the allotment of any shares by
any allottee in favour of some other person.

9.

If by the conditions of allotment of any share the whole or part of the amount or issue price thereof shall be payable by
instalments, every such instalment when due shall be paid to the Company by the person who for the time being shall be the
Holder of the share.

10.

The Company may pay commission to any person in consideration of a person subscribing or agreeing to subscribe, whether
absolutely or conditionally, for any shares in the Company or procuring or agreeing to procure subscriptions, whether absolute or
conditional, for any shares in the Company on such terms and subject to such conditions as the Directors may determine,
including, without limitation, by paying cash or allotting and issuing fully or partly paid shares or any combination of the two. The
Company may also, on any issue of shares, pay such brokerage as may be lawful.

11.

Except as required by law, no person shall be recognised by the Company as holding any share upon any trust, and the Company
shall not be bound by or be compelled in any way to recognise (even when having notice thereof) any equitable, contingent, future
or partial interest in any share or any interest in any fractional part of a share or (except only as by these articles or by
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law otherwise provided) any other rights in respect of any share except an a bsolute right to the entirety thereof in the Holder.
12.

No person shall be entitled to a share certificate in respect of any Ordinary Share held by them in the share capital of the
Company, whether such Ordinary Share was allotted or transferred to them, unless so requested in accordance with the Acts.

13.

The Company shall not give, whether directly or indirectly and whether by means of a loan, guarantee, the provision of security or
otherwise, any financial assistance for the purpose of or in connection with a purchase or subscription made or to be made by any
person of or for any shares in the Company or in its holding company, except as permitted by the Acts.

14.

(a)The Company shall have a first and paramount lien on every share (not being a fully paid share) for all monies
(whether presently payable or not) payable at a fixed time or called in respect of that share. The Directors, at any time,
may declare any share to be wholly or in part exempt from the provisions of this article. The Company’s lien on a share
shall extend to all monies payable in respect of it.
(b)

The Company may sell in such manner as the Directors determine any share on which the Company has a lien

(c)

if a sum in respect of which the lien exists is presently payable and is not paid within fourteen Clear Days after notice
demanding payment, and stating that if the notice is not complied with the share may be sold, has been given to the
Holder of the share or to the person entitled to it by reason of the death or bankruptcy of the Holder.

(d)

To give effect to a sale, the Directors may authorise some person to execute an instrument of transfer of the share sold
to, or in accordance with the directions of, the purchaser. The transferee shall be entered in the Register as the Holder
of the share comprised in any such transfer and he shall not be bound to see to the application of the purchase monies
nor shall his title to the share be affected by any irregularity in or invalidity of the proceedings in reference to the sale,
and after the name of the transferee has been entered in the Register, the remedy of any person aggrieved by the sale
shall be in damages only and against the Company exclusively.

(e)

The net proceeds of the sale, after payment of the costs, shall be applied in payment of so much of the sum for which
the lien exists as is presently payable and any residue (upon surrender to the Company for cancellation of the certificate
for the shares sold and subject to a like lien for any monies not presently payable as existed upon the shares before the
sale) shall be paid to the person entitled to the shares at the date of the sale.

(f)

Whenever any law for the time being of any country, state or place imposes or purports to impose any immediate or
future or possible liability upon the Company to make any payment or empowers any government or taxing authority
or government official to require the Company to make any payment in respect of any Shares registered in the Register
as held either jointly or solely by any Holders or in respect of any dividends, bonuses or other monies due or payable or
accruing due or which may become due or payable to such Holder by the Company on or in respect of any Shares
registered as mentioned above or for or on account or in respect of any Holder and whether in consequence of:
(i)

the death of such Holder;

(ii)

the non-payment of any income tax or other tax by such Holder;
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(iii)

the non-payment of any estate, probate, succession, death, stamp or other duty by the executor or
administrator of such Holder or by or out of her estate; or

(iv)

any other act or thing;

in every such case (except to the extent that the rights conferred upon holders of any class of Shares under the
Company liable to make additional payments in respect of sums withheld on account of the foregoing):
(v)

the Company shall be fully indemnified by such Holder or her executor or administrator from all
liability;

(vi)

the Company shall have a lien upon all dividends and other monies payable in respect of the
Shares registered in the Register as held either jointly or solely by such Holder for all monies
paid or payable by the Company as referred to above in respect of such Shares or in respect of
any dividends or other monies thereon or for or on account or in respect of such Holder under or
in consequence of any such law, together with interest at the rate of 15% per annum (or such
other rate as the Board may determine) thereon from the date of payment to date of repayment,
and the Company may deduct or set off against such dividends or other monies so payable any
monies paid or payable by the Company as referred to above together with interest at the same
rate;

(vii)

the Company may recover as a debt due from such Holder or his or her executor or administrator
(wherever constituted) any monies paid by the Company under or in consequence of any such
law and interest thereon at the rate and for the period referred to above in excess of any
dividends or other monies then due or payable by the Company; and

(viii)

the Company may if any such money is paid or payable by it under any such law as referred to
above refuse to register a transfer of any Shares by any such Holder or her executor or
administrator until such money and interest is set off or deducted as referred to above or in the
case that it exceeds the amount of any such dividends or other monies then due or payable by the
Company, until such excess is paid to the Company.

Nothing in this Article 14 shall impose any liability or obligation on an Approved Nominee or on any Share held by an
Approved Nominee acting in its capacity as such.
15.

(a)Subject to the terms of allotment, the Directors may make calls upon the Holders in respect of any monies unpaid on
their shares and each Holder (subject to receiving at least fourteen Clear Days’ notice specifying when and where
payment is to be made) shall pay to the Company as required by the notice the amount called on his shares. A call may
be required to be paid by instalments. A call may be revoked before receipt by the Company of a sum due thereunder,
in whole or in part and payment of a call may be postponed in whole or in part. A person upon whom a call is made
shall remain liable for calls made upon him notwithstanding the subsequent transfer of the shares in respect of which
the call was made.
(b)

A call shall be deemed to have been made at the time when the resolution of the Directors authorising the call was
passed.
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(c)

The joint Hol ders of a share shall be jointly and severally liable to pay all calls in respect thereof.

(d)

If a call remains unpaid after it has become due and payable the person from whom it is due and payable shall pay
interest on the amount unpaid from the day it became due until it is paid at the rate fixed by the terms of allotment of
the share or in the notice of the call or, if no rate is fixed, at the appropriate rate (as defined by the Acts) but the
Directors may waive payment of the interest wholly or in part.

(e)

An amount payable in respect of a share on allotment or at any fixed date, whether in respect of nominal value or as an
instalment of a call, shall be deemed to be a call and if it is not paid the provisions of these articles shall apply as if that
amount had become due and payable by virtue of a call.

(f)

Subject to the terms of allotment, the Directors may make arrangements on the issue of shares for a difference between
the Holders in the amounts and times of payment of calls on their shares.

(g)

The Directors, if they think fit, may receive from any Holder willing to advance the same all or any part of the monies
uncalled and unpaid upon any shares held by him, and upon all or any of the monies so advanced may pay (until the
same would, but for such advance, become payable) interest at such rate, not exceeding (unless the Company in general
meeting otherwise directs) 15% per annum, as may be agreed upon between the Directors and the Holder paying such
sum in advance.

(h)

(i)If a Holder fails to pay any call or instalment of a call on the day appointed for payment thereof, the
Directors, at any time thereafter and during such times as any part of the call or instalment remains unpaid,
may serve a notice on him requiring payment of so much of the call or instalment as is unpaid together with
any interest which may have accrued.
(ii)

The notice shall name a further day (not earlier than the expiration of fourteen Clear Days from the date of
service of the notice) on or before which the payment required by the notice is to be made, and shall state
that in the event of non-payment at or before the time appointed the shares in respect of which the call was
made will be liable to be forfeited.

(iii)

If the requirements of any such notice as aforesaid are not complied with then, at any time thereafter before
the payment required by the notice has been made, any shares in respect of which the notice has been given
may be forfeited by a resolution of the Directors to that effect. The forfeiture shall include all dividends or
other monies payable in respect of the forfeited shares and not paid before forfeiture. The Directors may
accept a surrender of any share liable to be forfeited hereunder.

(iv)

On the trial or hearing of any action for the recovery of any money due for any call it shall be sufficient to
prove that the name of the Holder sued is entered in the Register as the Holder, or one of the Holders, of the
shares in respect of which such debt accrued, that the resolution making the call is duly recorded in the
minute book and that notice of such call was duly given to the Holder sued, in pursuance of these articles,
and it shall not be necessary to prove the appointment of the Directors who made such call nor any other
matters whatsoever, but the proof of the matters aforesaid shall be conclusive evidence of the debt.
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(i)

A forfeited share may be sold or otherwise disposed of on such terms and in such manner as the Directors think fit and
at any time before a sale or disposition the forfeiture may be cancelled on such terms as the Directors think fit. Where
for the purposes of its disposal such a share is to be transferred to any person, the Directors may authorise some person
to execute an instrument of transfer of the share to that person. The Company may receive the consideration, if any ,
given for the share on any sale or disposition thereof and may execute a transfer of the share in favour of the person to
whom the share is sold or disposed of and thereupon he shall be registered as the Holder of the share and shall not be
bound to see to the application of the purchase money, if any, nor shall his title to the share be affected by any
irregularity or invalidity in the proceedings in reference to the forfeiture, sale or disposal of the share.

(j)

A person whose shares have been forfeited shall cease to be a Holder in respect of the forfeited shares, but nevertheless
shall remain liable to pay to the Company all monies which, at the date of forfeiture, were payable by him to the
Company in respect of the shares, without any deduction or allowance for the value of the shares at the time of
forfeiture but his liability shall cease if and when the Company shall have received payment in full of all such monies in
respect of the shares.

(k)

A statutory declaration that the declarant is a Director or the Secretary of the Company, and that a share in the
Company has been duly forfeited on the date stated in the declaration, shall be conclusive evidence of the facts therein
stated as against all persons claiming to be entitled to the share.

(l)

The provisions of these articles as to forfeiture shall apply in the case of non-payment of any sum which, by the terms
of issue of a share, becomes payable at a fixed time, whether on account of the nominal value of the share or by way of
premium, as if the same had been payable by virtue of a call duly made and notified.

(m)

The Directors may accept the surrender of any share which the Directors have resolved to have been forfeited upon
such terms and conditions as may be agreed and, subject to any such terms and conditions, a surrendered share shall be
treated as if it has been forfeited.

(n)

If the Board considers it necessary or appropriate, the Company may establish and maintain a duplicate Register at
such location or locations within or outside Ireland as the Board thinks fit. The original Register shall be treated as the
Register for the purposes of these articles and the Acts.

(o)

The Company, or any agent(s) appointed by it to maintain the duplicate Register in accordance with these articles, shall
as soon as practicable and on a regular basis record or procure the recording in the original Register all transfers of
Shares effected on any duplicate Register shall at all times maintain the original Register in such manner as to show at
all times the Holders for the time being and the Shares respectively held by them, in all respects in accordance with the
Acts.
TRANSFER OF SHARES

16.

(a)The instrument of transfer which shall be in such form as the Board may approve, of any share may be executed
with a manual signature or a facsimile signature for and on behalf of the transferor by the Secretary, an Assistant
Secretary or any such person that the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary nominates for that purpose (whether in respect
of specific transfers or pursuant to a general standing authorisation), and the Secretary, Assistant Secretary or the
relevant nominee shall be deemed to have been irrevocably appointed agent for the transferor of such share or shares
with full power to execute, complete and deliver in the name of and on behalf of the transferor of such share or
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shares all such transfers of shares held by the Holders in the share capital of the Company. Any document which
records the name of the transferor, the name of the transferee, the class and number of shares agre ed to be transferred,
the date of the agreement to transfer shares and the price per share, shall, once executed by the transferor or the
Secretary, Assistant Secretary or the relevant nominee as agent for the transferor, and by the transferee where requir ed
by the Act, be deemed to be a proper instrument of transfer for the purposes of the Acts. The transferor shall be deemed
to remain the Holder of the share until the name of the transferee is entered on the Register in respect thereof, and
neither the ti tle of the transferee nor the title of the transferor shall be affected by any irregularity or invalidity in the
proceedings in reference to the sale should the Directors so determine.

17.

(b)

The Company, at its absolute discretion, may, or may procure that a subsidiary of the Company shall, pay Irish stamp
duty arising on a transfer of shares on behalf of the transferee of such shares of the Company. If stamp duty resulting
from the transfer of shares in the Company which would otherwise be payable by the transferee is paid by the
Company or any subsidiary of the Company on behalf of the transferee, then in those circumstances, the Company
shall, on its behalf or on behalf of its subsidiary (as the case may be), be entitled to (i) seek reimbursement of the stamp
duty from the transferee, (ii) set-off the stamp duty against any dividends payable to the transferee of those shares and
(iii) claim a first and permanent lien on the shares on which stamp duty has been paid by the Company or its subsidiary
for the amount of stamp duty paid. The Company’s lien shall extend to all dividends paid on those shares. Nothing in
this article 16(b) shall impose any liability or obligation on an Approved Nominee or on any Share held by an
Approved Nominee acting in its capacity as such.

(c)

Notwithstanding the provisions of these articles and subject to any CSD Regulation or any regulations made under
section 239 of the Companies Act 1990 or section 1086 of the Companies Act, title to any shares in the Company may
also be evidenced and transferred without a written instrument in accordance with any CSD Regulation or regulations
made under section 239 of the Companies Act 1990 or section 1086 of the Companies Act. The Directors shall have
power to permit any class of shares to be held in uncertificated form and to implement any arrangements they think fit
for such evidencing and transfer which accord with such regulations and in particular shall, where appropriate, be
entitled to disapply or modify all or part of the provisions in these articles with respect to the requirement for written
instruments of transfer and share certificates (if any), in order to give effect to such regulations.

Subject to such of the restrictions of these articles and to such of the conditions of issue of any share warrants as may be
applicable, the shares of any Holder and any share warrant permitted to be issued by the Acts may be transferred by instrument in
writing in any usual or common form or any other form which the Directors may approve.

18.

(a)The Directors in their absolute discretion and without assigning any reason therefor may decline to register:
(i)

any transfer of a share which is not fully paid; or

(ii)

any transfer to or by a minor or person of unsound mind;

but this shall not apply to a transfer of such a share resulting from a sale of the share through a stock exchange on
which the share is listed.
(b)

The Directors may decline to recognise any instrument of transfer unless:
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(i)

the instrument of transfer is accompanied by any evidence the Directors may reasonably require to show the
right of the transferor to make the transfer;

(ii)

the instrument of transfer is in respect of one class of share only;

(iii)

the instrument of transfer is in favour of not more than four transferees; and

(iv)

it is lodged at the Office or at such other place as the Directors may appoint.

19.

If the Directors refuse to register a transfer, they shall, within two months after the date on which the transfer was lodged with the
Company, send to the transferee notice of the refusal.

20.

(a)The Directors may from time to time fix a record date for the purposes of determining the rights of Holders to notice
of and/or to vote at any general meeting of the Company. The record date shall not precede the date upon which the
resolution fixing the record date is adopted by the Directors, and the record date shall be not more than 60 nor less than
10 days before the date of such meeting. If no record date is fixed by the Directors, the record date for determining
Holders entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of the Holders shall be the day immediately preceding the date on
which the notice of the meeting is mailed. Unless the Directors determine otherwise, a determination of Holders of
record entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of Holders shall apply to any adjournment or postponement of the
meeting.
(b)

In order that the Directors may determine the Holders entitled to receive payment of any dividend or other distribution
or allotment of any rights or the Holders entitled to exercise any rights in respect of any change, conversion or
exchange of shares, or for the purpose of any other lawful action, the Board may fix a record date, which record date
shall not precede the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted, and which record date shall be
not more than 60 nor less than 10 days prior to such action. If no record date is fixed, the record date for determining
Holders for such purpose shall be the day immediately preceding the date on which the notice of the meeting is mailed.

(c)

If the Register of Members is not so closed and no record date is fixed for the determination of Holders entitled to
notice of or to vote at a meeting of Holders or Holders entitled to receive payment of a dividend, the date immediately
preceding the date on which notice of the meeting is deemed given under these Articles or the date on which the
resolution of the Directors declaring such dividend is adopted, as the case may be, shall be the record date for such
determination of Holders. When a determination of Holders entitled to vote at any meeting of Holders has been made
as provided in these articles, such determination shall apply to any adjournment thereof; provided, however, that the
Directors may fix a new record date of the adjourned meeting, if they think fit.

21.

Registration of transfers may be suspended at such times and for such period, not exceeding in the whole 30 days in each year, as
the Directors may from time to time determine subject to the requirements of the Acts.

22.

All instruments of transfer shall upon their being lodged with the Company remain the property of the Company and the Company
shall be entitled to retain them.

23.

Subject to the provisions of these articles, whenever as a result of a consolidation of shares or otherwise any Holders would
become entitled to fractions of a share, the Directors may sell or cause to be sold, on behalf of those Holders, the shares
representing the fractions for the best price reasonably obtainable to any person and distribute the proceeds of sale (subject to any
applicable tax and abandoned property laws) in due proportion among those Holders, and the
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Directors may authorise some person to execute an instrument of transfer of the shares to, or in accordance with the directions of,
the purchaser. The transferee shall not be bound to see to the application of the purchase money nor shall his title to the shares be
affected by any irregularity in or invalidity of the proceedings in reference to the sale.
TRANSMISSION OF SHARES
24.

In the case of the death of a Holder, the survivor or survivors where the deceased was a joint Holder, and the personal
representatives of the deceased where he was a sole Holder, shall be the only persons recognised by the Company as having any
title to his interest in the shares; but nothing herein contained shall release the estate of a deceased joint Holder from any liability
in respect of any share which had been jointly held by him with other persons.

25.

Any person becoming entitled to a share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy or liquidation or dissolution of a Holder (or in
any other way than by transfer) may, upon such evidence being produced as may from time to time properly be required by the
Directors and subject as herein provided, elect either to be registered himself as Holder of the share or to have some person
nominated by him registered as the transferee thereof, but the Directors shall, in either case, have the same right to decline or
suspend registration as they would have had in the case of a transfer of the shares by that Holder before his death or bankruptcy, as
the case may be.

26.

If the person so becoming entitled elects to be registered himself, he shall deliver or send to the Company a notice in writing
signed by him stating that he so elects. If he elects to have another person registered, he shall testify his election by executing to
that person a transfer of the share. All the limitations, restrictions and provisions of these articles relating to the right to transfer
and the registration of transfers of shares shall be applicable to any such notice or transfer as aforesaid as if the death or
bankruptcy of the Holder had not occurred and the notice of transfer were a transfer signed by that Holder.

27.

A person becoming entitled to a share by reason of the death or bankruptcy or liquidation or dissolution of the Holder (or in any
other case than by transfer) shall be entitled to the same dividends and other advantages to which he would be entitled if he were
the registered Holder of the share, except that he shall not, before being registered as a Holder in respect of the share, be entitled in
respect of it to exercise any right conferred by membership in relation to the meetings of the Company, so, however, that the
Directors may at any time give notice requiring such person to elect either to be registered himself or to transfer the share, and if
the notice is not complied with within 90 days, the Directors may thereupon withhold payment of all dividends, bonuses or other
monies payable in respect of the share until the requirements of the notice have been complied with.

28.

The Company shall not be obligated to recognise any person as holding any Share upon any trust (except as is otherwise provided
in these articles or to the extent required by law) and the Company shall not be bound by or be compelled in any way to recognise
(even when having notice thereof) any equitable, contingent, future, or partial interest in any Share, or any interest in any
fractional part of a Share, or (except only as is otherwise provided by these articles or the Companies Acts) any other rights in
respect of any Share except an absolute right to the entirety thereof in the registered Holder. This shall not preclude the Company
from requiring the Holders or a transferee of Shares to furnish to the Company with information as to the beneficial ownership of
any Share when such information is reasonably required by the Company. The obligations of an Approved Nominee under this
article 28 shall be limited to disclosure of such information relating to the beneficial ownership of any Share as has been recorded
by it pursuant to arrangements entered into by the Company or approved by the Directors pursuant to which it was appointed an
Approved Nominee.
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ALTERATION OF CAPITAL
29.

The Company may from time to time by Ordinary Resolution increase the authorised share capital by such sum, to be divided into
shares of such amount, as the resolution shall prescribe.

30.

The Company may by Ordinary Resolution:

31.

(a)

consolidate and divide all or any of its share capital into shares of larger amount than its existing shares;

(b)

subdivide its existing shares, or any of them, into shares of smaller amount than is fixed by the memorandum of
association subject, nevertheless, to the Acts. However, that in the sub-division the proportion between the amount paid
and the amount, if any, unpaid on each reduced Share shall be the same as it was in the case of the Share from which
the reduced Share is derived; or

(c)

cancel any shares which, at the date of the passing of the resolution, have not been taken or agreed to be taken by any
person and reduce the amount of its authorised share capital by the amount of the shares so cancelled.

The Company may by Special Resolution (or by Ordinary Resolution where permitted by section 83 of the Act) reduce its
company capital (including its share capital and any capital redemption reserve fund or share premium account or any
undenominated capital) in any way it thinks expedient and, without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, may:
(a)

extinguish or reduce the liability on any of its shares in respect of share capital not paid up;

(b)

either with or without extinguishing or reducing liability on any of its shares, cancel any paid up company capital which
is lost or unrepresented by available assets; and

(c)

either with or without extinguishing or reducing liability on any of its shares, pay off any unpaid company capital
which is in excess of the wants of the Company

and in relation to such reductions, the Company may by Special Resolution determine the terms upon which the reduction is to be
effected, including in the case of a reduction of part only of any class of Shares, those Shares to be affected.
Subject to the provision of the Acts, the Company may:
(d)
(e)

by Special Resolution change its name, alter or add to the Memorandum with respect to any objects, powers or other
matters specified therein or alter or add to these articles; and its
by resolution of the Directors change the location of its registered office.
GENERAL MEETINGS

32.

The Company shall in each year hold a general meeting as its annual general meeting in addition to any other meeting in that year,
and shall specify the meeting as such in the notices calling it. Not more than fifteen months shall elapse between the date of one
annual general meeting of the Company and that of the next. This article shall not apply in the case of the first general meeting, in
respect of which the Company shall convene the meeting within the time periods required by the Act.

33.

Subject to the Acts, all general meetings of the Company may be held outside of Ireland.
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34.

All general meetings other than annual general meetings shall be called extraordinary general meetings.

35.

The Directors may, whenever they think fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting, and extraordinary general meetings shall
also be convened on such requisition, or in default may be convened by such requisitionists, as provided in the Acts.

36.

All provisions of these articles relating to general meetings of the Company shall, mutatis mutandis, apply to every separate
general meeting of the Holders of any class of shares in the capital of the Company, except that:
(a)

the necessary quorum shall be two or more persons holding or representing by proxy (whether or not such Holder
actually exercises his voting rights in whole, in part or at all at the relevant general meeting) at least a majority in
nominal value of the issued shares of the class or, at any adjourned meeting of such Holders, one Holder holding or
representing by proxy (whether or not such Holder actually exercises his voting rights in whole, in part or at all at the
relevant general meeting) at least a majority in nominal value of the issued shares of the class, shall be deemed to
constitute a meeting;

(b)

any Holder of shares of the class present in person or by proxy may demand a poll; and

(c)

each Holder of shares of the class shall have one vote in respect of every share of the class held by him.

37.

A Director shall be entitled, notwithstanding that he is not a Holder, to attend and speak at any general meeting and at any separate
meeting of the Holders of any class of shares in the Company.

38.

The Board may, in its absolute discretion, authorise the Secretary to postpone any general meeting called in accordance with the
provisions of these articles (other than a meeting requisitioned under article 35 of these articles or the postponement of which
would be contrary to the Companies Acts, law or a court order pursuant to the Companies Acts) if the Board considers that, for
any reason, it is impractical or unreasonable to hold the general meeting, provided that notice of postponement is given to each
Holder before the time for such meeting. Fresh notice of the date, time and place for the postponed meeting shall be given to each
Holder in accordance with the provisions of these articles
NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETINGS

39.

(a)Subject to the provisions of the Acts allowing a general meeting to be called by shorter notice, an annual general
meeting and an extraordinary general meeting shall be called by not less than 21 Clear Days’ notice.
(b)

Any notice convening a general meeting shall specify the time and place of the meeting and, in the case of special
business, the general nature of that business and, in reasonable prominence, that a Holder entitled to attend and vote is
entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend, speak and vote in his place and that a proxy need not be a Holder of
the Company. It shall also give particulars of any Directors who are to retire at the meeting and of any persons who are
recommended by the Directors for appointment or re-appointment as Directors at the meeting or in respect of whom
notice has been duly given to the Company of the intention to propose them for appointment or re-appointment as
Directors at the meeting. Provided that the latter requirement shall only apply where the intention to propose the person
has been received by the Company in accordance with the provisions of these articles. Subject to any restrictions
imposed on any shares, the notice of the meeting shall be given to all the Holders of the
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Company as of the record date set by the Directors and to the Directors and the statutory auditors.
(c)

The accidental omission to give notice of a meeting to, or the non-receipt of notice of a meeting by, any person entitled
to receive notice shall not invalidate the proceedings at the meeting.

40.

In cases where instruments of proxy are sent out with notices, the accidental omission to send such instrument of proxy to, or the
non-receipt of such instrument of proxy by, any person entitled to receive notice shall not invalidate any resolution passed or any
proceeding at any such meeting. A Holder present, either in person or by proxy, at any general meeting of the Company or of the
holders of any class of Shares in the Company, will be deemed to have received notice of that meeting and, where required, of the
purpose for which it was called.

41.

Where, by any provision contained in the Acts, extended notice is required of a resolution, the resolution shall not be effective
(except where the Directors of the Company have resolved to submit it) unless notice of the intention to move it has been given to
the Company not less than twenty-eight days (or such shorter period as the Acts permit) before the meeting at which it is moved,
and the Company shall give to the Holders notice of any such resolution as required by and in accordance with the provisions of
the Acts.
PROCEEDINGS AT GENERAL MEETINGS

42.

43.

All business shall be deemed special that is transacted at an extraordinary general meeting, and also all that is transacted at an
annual general meeting, with the exception of:
(a)

the consideration of the Company’s statutory financial statements and the report of the directors and the report of the
statutory auditors on those statements and that report;

(b)

the review by the members of the Company’s affairs;

(c)

the declaration of a dividend (if any) of an amount not exceeding the amount recommended by the directors;

(d)

the authorisation of the directors to approve the remuneration of the statutory auditors;

(e)

the election and re-election of directors; and

(f)

(subject to sections 380 and 382 to 385 of the Companies Act) the appointment and re-appointment of the Auditors.

At any annual general meeting of the Holders, only such nominations of persons for election to the Board shall be made, and only
such other business shall be conducted or considered, as shall have been properly brought before the meeting. For nominations to
be properly made at an annual general meeting, and proposals of other business to be properly brought before an annual meeting,
nominations and proposals of other business must be: (a) specified in the Company’s notice of meeting (or any supplement
thereto) given by or at the direction of the Board, (b) otherwise properly made at the annual general meeting, by or at the direction
of the Board or (c) otherwise properly requested to be brought before the annual general meeting by a Holder of the Company in
accordance with these articles. For nominations of persons for election to the Board or proposals of other business to be properly
requested by a Holder to be made at an annual general meeting, a Holder must (i) be a Holder at the time of giving of notice of
such annual general meeting by or at the direction of the Board and at the time of the annual general meeting, (ii) be entitled to
vote at such annual general meeting and (iii) comply with the procedures set forth in these articles as to such business or
nomination. The immediately preceding sentence shall be the exclusive means for a Holder to make nominations or other
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business proposals (other than matters properly brought under Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act and included in the Company’s
notice of meeting) before an annual general meeting of Holders.
44.

At any extraordinary general meeting of the Holders, only such business shall be conducted or considered, as shall have been
properly brought before the meeting pursuant to the Company’s notice of meeting. To be properly brought before an
extraordinary general meeting, proposals of business must be (a) specified in the Company’s notice of meeting (or any supplement
thereto) given by or at the direction of the Board, (b) otherwise properly brought before the extraordinary general meeting, by or at
the direction of the Board, or (c) otherwise properly brought before the meeting by any Holders of the Company pursuant to the
valid exercise of power granted to them under the Acts.

45.

Nominations of persons for election to the Board may be made at an extraordinary general meeting of Holders at which directors
are to be elected pursuant to the Company’s notice of meeting (a) by or at the direction of the Board, (b) by any Holders of the
Company pursuant to the valid exercise of power granted to them under the Acts, or (c) provided that the Board has determined
that directors shall be elected at such meeting, by any Holder of the Company who (i) is a Holder at the time of giving of notice of
such extraordinary general meeting and at the time of the extraordinary general meeting, (ii) is entitled to vote at the meeting and
(iii) complies with the procedures set forth in these articles as to such nomination. The immediately preceding sentence shall be
the exclusive means for a Holder to make nominations (other than matters properly brought under Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange
Act and included in the Company’s notice of meeting) before an extraordinary general meeting of Holders.

46.

Except as otherwise provided by law, the memorandum of association or these articles, the Chairman of any general meeting shall
have the power to determine whether a nomination or any other business proposed to be brought before the general meeting was
made or proposed, as the case may be, in accordance with these articles and, if any proposed nomination or other business is not in
compliance with these articles, to declare that no action shall be taken on such nomination or other proposal and such nomination
or other proposal shall be disregarded.

47.

No business shall be transacted at any general meeting unless a quorum is present. One or more Holders present in person or by
proxy holding at least 50% of the issued and outstanding Shares of the Company entitled to vote at the meeting in question shall be
a quorum.

48.

If within one hour from the time appointed for the meeting a quorum is not present, the meeting, if convened upon the requisition
of Holders, shall be dissolved and in any other case it shall stand adjourned to the same day in the next week at the same time and
place or to such other time or such other place as the Board may determine and if at the adjourned meeting a quorum is not present
within one hour from the time appointed for the meeting the Holders present shall be a quorum.

49.

If the Board wishes to make this facility available to Holders for a specific or all general meetings of the Company, a Holder may
participate in any general meeting of the Company, by means of a telephone, video, electronic or similar communication
equipment by way of which all persons participating in such meeting can communicate with each other simultaneously and
instantaneously and such participation shall be deemed to constitute presence in person at the meeting.

50.

Each Director and the Auditors shall be entitled to attend and speak at any general meeting of the Company.
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51.

The Chairman, if any, of t he Board, and, if the Chairman is not present, such officer or other person as the Board shall designate,
shall preside as chairman at every general meeting of the Company.

52.

The Chairman may, with the consent of any general meeting duly constituted hereunder, and shall if so directed by the meeting,
adjourn the meeting from time to time and from place to place, but no business shall be transacted at any adjourned meeting other
than the business left unfinished, or which might have been transacted, at the meeting from which the adjournment took
place. When a general meeting is adjourned for thirty (30) days or more, notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given as in the
case of an original meeting; save as aforesaid it shall not be necessary to give any notice of an adjournment or of the business to be
transacted at an adjourned general meeting.

53.

Subject to the Acts, a resolution may only be put to a vote at a general meeting of the Company or of any class of Holders if:
(a)

it is proposed by or at the direction of the Board; or

(b)

it is proposed at the direction of the Court; or

(c)

it is proposed on the requisition in writing of such number of Holders as is prescribed by, and is made in accordance
with, the Acts; or

(d)

it is proposed pursuant to, and in accordance with the procedures and requirements of, Articles 64 or 65; or

(e)

the Chairman of the meeting in her absolute discretion decides that the resolution may properly be regarded as within
the scope of the meeting.

54.

No amendment may be made to a resolution, at or before the time when it is put to a vote, unless the Chairman of the meeting in
her absolute discretion decides that the amendment or the amended resolution may properly be put to a vote at that meeting.

55.

If the Chairman of the meeting rules a resolution or an amendment to a resolution admissible or out of order (as the case may be),
the proceedings of the meeting or on the resolution in question shall not be invalidated by any error in her ruling. Any ruling by
the Chairman of the meeting in relation to a resolution or an amendment to a resolution shall be final and conclusive.

56.

Except where a greater majority is required by the Acts or these articles or any applicable law or regulation to which the Company
is subject, any question proposed for a decision of the Holders at any general meeting of the Company or a decision of any class of
Holders at a separate meeting of any class of Shares shall be decided by an Ordinary Resolution.

57.

At any general meeting a resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall be decided on a poll. The Board or the Chairman may
determine the manner in which the poll is to be taken and the manner in which the votes are to be counted.

58.

A poll demanded on the election of the Chairman or on a question of adjournment shall be taken forthwith. A poll demanded on
any other question shall be taken at such time, not being more than ten (10) days from the date of the meeting or adjourned
meeting at which the vote was taken, as the Chairman of the meeting directs, and any business other than that on which a poll has
been demanded may be proceeded with pending the taking of the poll.

59.

No notice need be given of a poll not taken immediately. The result of the poll shall be deemed to be the resolution of the general
meeting at which the poll was demanded. On a poll a Holder
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entitled to more than one (1) vote need not use all her votes or cast all the votes she uses in the same way.
60.

If authorised by the Board, any vote taken by written ballot may be satisfied by a ballot submitted by electronic or telephonic
transmission, provided that any such electronic or telephonic submission must either set forth or be submitted with information
from which it can be determined that the electronic submission has been authorised by the Holder or proxy.

61.

The Board may, and at any general meeting, the chairman of such meeting may make such arrangement and impose any
requirement or restriction it or she considers appropriate to ensure the security of a general meeting including, without limitation,
requirements for evidence of identity to be produced by those attending the meeting, the searching of personal property and the
restriction of items that may be taken into the meeting place. The Board and, at any general meeting, the chairman of such meeting
are entitled to refuse entry to a person who refuses to comply with such arrangements, requirements or restrictions.

62.

Subject to the Acts, a resolution in writing signed by all of the Holders for the time being entitled to attend and vote on such
resolution at a general meeting (or being bodies corporate by their duly authorised representatives) shall be as valid and effective
for all purposes as if the resolution had been passed at a general meeting of the Company duly convened and held, and may consist
of several documents in like form each signed by one or more persons, and if described as a special resolution shall be deemed to
be a special resolution within the meaning of the Acts. Any such resolution shall be served on the Company.

63.

Unless the Directors otherwise determine, no Holder shall be entitled to vote at any general meeting or any separate meeting of the
Holders of any class of shares in the Company, either in person or by proxy, or to exercise any privilege as a Holder in respect of
any share held by him unless all monies then payable by him in respect of that share have been paid.
ADVANCE NOTICE OF HOLDER BUSINESS AND NOMINATIONS

64.

Without qualification or limitation, subject to article 76, for any nominations or any other business to be properly brought before
an annual general meeting by a Holder pursuant to article 43, the Holder must have given timely notice thereof (including, in the
case of nominations, the completed and signed questionnaire, representation and agreement required by article 78), and timely
updates and supplements thereof, in writing to the Secretary, and such other business must otherwise be a proper matter for Holder
action.

65.

To be timely, a Holder’s notice for any nominations or any other business to be properly brought before an annual general meeting
by a Holder pursuant to article 43 shall be delivered to the Secretary at the Office not earlier than the close of business on the 70 th
calendar day nor later than the 45 th calendar day prior to the first anniversary of the day of release to shareholders of the
Company’s proxy statement issued pursuant to section 14(a) of the Exchange Act in respect of the preceding year’s annual general
meeting; however, in the event that no annual general meeting of the Shareholders was held in the previous year or the date of the
annual general meeting is changed by more than 30 days from the date contemplated at the time of the previous year’s proxy
statement, notice by the Holder must be so delivered not earlier than the close of business on the 100 th calendar day prior to the
date of such annual general meeting and not later than the close of business on (a) 75 calendar days prior to the day of the
contemplated annual general meeting or (b) the 10 th calendar day after the day on which public announcement of the date of the
contemplated annual general meeting is first made by the Company; provided, further, that with respect to the first annual general
meeting of the Company, notice by the Holder must be so delivered by the close of business on the day that is not less than ten
days after the day on which public announcement of the date of such meeting is first made by the Company. In no event shall any
adjournment or postponement of an annual general meeting,
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or the public announcement thereof, commence a new time period for the giving of a Holder’s notice as described above.
66.

Notwithstanding anything in article 65 to the contrary, in the event that the number of directors to be elected to the Board is
increased by the Board, and there is no public announcement by the Company naming all of the nominees for director or
specifying the size of the increased Board at least 130 days prior to the first anniversary of the day of release to shareholders of the
Company’s proxy statement issued pursuant to section 14(a) of the Exchange Act in respect of the preceding year’s annual general
meeting, a Holder’s notice required by articles 64-67 shall also be considered timely, but only with respect to nominees for any
new positions created by such increase, if it shall be delivered to the Secretary at the Office not later than the close of business on
the day that is ten days after the day on which such public announcement is first made by the Company.

67.

In addition, to be considered timely, a Holder’s notice shall further be updated and supplemented, if necessary, so that the
information provided or required to be provided in such notice shall be true and correct as of the record date for the meeting and as
of the date that is ten business days prior to the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof, and such update and
supplement shall be delivered to the Secretary at the Office not later than five business days after the record date for the meeting in
the case of the update and supplement required to be made as of the record date, and not later than eight business days prior to the
date for the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof in the case of the update and supplement required to be made as
of ten business days prior to the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof.

68.

Subject to article 76, in the event the Company calls an extraordinary general meeting of Holders for the purpose of electing one or
more directors to the Board, any Holder may nominate a person or persons (as the case may be) for election to such position(s) as
specified in the Company’s notice of meeting, provided that the Holder gives timely notice thereof (including the completed and
signed questionnaire, representation and agreement required by article 78), and timely updates and supplements thereof, in writing,
to the Secretary.

69.

To be timely, a Holder’s notice for any nomination to be properly brought before such an extraordinary general meeting shall be
delivered to the Secretary at the Office not earlier than the close of business on the 90 t h calendar day prior to the date of such
extraordinary general meeting and not later than the later of the close of business on (i) the 60 th calendar day before the date of the
extraordinary general meeting or (ii) the date that is ten days after the day on which public announcement of the date of the
extraordinary general meeting and of the nominees proposed by the Board to be elected at such meeting is first made by the
Company. In no event shall any adjournment or postponement of an extraordinary general meeting, or the public announcement
thereof, commence a new time period for the giving of a Holder’s notice as described above.

70.

In addition, to be considered timely, a Holder’s notice for any nomination to be properly brought before such an extraordinary
general meeting shall further be updated and supplemented, if necessary, so that the information provided or required to be
provided in such notice shall be true and correct as of the record date for the meeting and as of the date that is ten business days
prior to the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof, and such update and supplement shall be delivered to the
Secretary at the Office not later than five business days after the record date for the meeting in the case of the update and
supplement required to be made as of the record date, and not later than eight business days prior to the date for the meeting, any
adjournment or postponement thereof in the case of the update and supplement required to be made as of ten business days prior to
the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof.
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71.

To be in proper form, a Holder’s notice (whether given pursuant to articles 64-67 or articles 68-70) to the Secretary must include
the following, as applicable:

72.

As to the Holder giving the notice and the beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the nomination or proposal is made, a
Holder’s notice must set forth: (i) the name and address of such Holder, as they appear on the Company’s books, of such
beneficial owner, if any, and of their respective affiliates or associates or others acting in concert therewith, (ii) (A) the class or
series and number of shares of the Company which are, directly or indirectly, owned beneficially and of record by such Holder,
such beneficial owner and their respective affiliates or associates or others acting in concert therewith, (B) any option, warrant,
convertible security, share appreciation right, or similar right with an exercise or conversion privilege or a settlement payment or
mechanism at a price related to any class or series of shares of the Company or with a value derived in whole or in part from the
value of any class or series of shares of the Company, or any derivative or synthetic arrangement having the characteristics of a
long position in any class or series of shares of the Company, or any contract, derivative, swap or other transaction or series of
transactions designed to produce economic benefits and risks that correspond substantially to the ownership of any class or series
of shares of the Company, including due to the fact that the value of such contract, derivative, swap or other transaction or series
of transactions is determined by reference to the price, value or volatility of any class or series of shares of the Company, whether
or not such instrument, contract or right shall be subject to settlement in the underlying class or series of shares of the Company,
through the delivery of cash or other property, or otherwise, and without regard to whether the Holder, the beneficial owner, if
any, or any affiliates or associates or others acting in concert therewith, may have entered into transactions that hedge or mitigate
the economic effect of such instrument, contract or right, or any other direct or indirect opportunity to profit or share in any profit
derived from any increase or decrease in the value of shares of the Company (any of the foregoing, a “Derivative Instrument”),
directly or indirectly owned beneficially by such Holder, the beneficial owner, if any, or any affiliates or associates or others
acting in concert therewith, (C) any proxy, contract, arrangement, understanding, or relationship pursuant to which such Holder
has a right to vote any class or series of shares of the Company, (D) any agreement, arrangement, understanding, relationship or
otherwise, including any repurchase or similar so-called “stock borrowing” agreement or arrangement, involving such Holder,
directly or indirectly, the purpose or effect of which is to mitigate loss to, reduce the economic risk (of ownership or otherwise) of
any class or series of shares of the Company by, manage the risk of share price changes for, or increase or decrease the voting
power of, such Holder with respect to any class or series of shares of the Company, or which provides, directly or indirectly, the
opportunity to profit or share in any profit derived from any decrease in the price or value of any class or series of shares of the
Company (any of the foregoing, a “Short Interest”), (E) any rights to dividends on shares of the Company owned beneficially by
such Holder that are separated or separable from the underlying shares of the Company, (F) any proportionate interest in shares of
the Company or Derivative Instruments held, directly or indirectly, by a general or limited partnership in which such Holder is a
general partner or, directly or indirectly, beneficially owns an interest in a general partner of such general or limited partnership,
(G) any performance-related fees (other than an asset-based fee) that such Holder is entitled to based on any increase or decrease
in the value of shares of the Company or Derivative Instruments, if any, including without limitation any such interests held by
Holders of such Holder’s immediate family sharing the same household, (H) any significant equity interests or any Derivative
Instruments or Short Interests in any principal competitor of the Company held by such Holder, and (I) any direct or indirect
interest of such Holder in any contract with the Company, any affiliate of the Company or any principal competitor of the
Company (including, in any such case, any employment agreement, collective bargaining agreement or consulting agreement), and
(iii) any other information relating to such Holder and beneficial owner, if any, that would be required to be disclosed in a proxy
statement and form or proxy or other filings required to be made in connection with solicitations of proxies for, as applicable, the
proposal and/or for the election of directors in a contested election pursuant to section 14 of the Exchange
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Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. Where the Holder giving the notice is an Approved Nominee acting in
its capacity as such, its obligations under this Article 72 shall be limited to disclosure of such information as has bee n recorded by
it pursuant to arrangements entered into by the Company or approved by the Directors pursuant to which it was appointed as
Approved Nominee.
73.

If the notice relates to any business other than a nomination of a director or directors that the Holder proposes to bring before the
meeting, a Holder’s notice must, in addition to the matters set forth in article 72 above, also set forth: (i) a brief description of the
business desired to be brought before the meeting, the reasons for conducting such business at the meeting and any material
interest of such Holder and beneficial owner, if any, in such business, (ii) the text of the proposal or business (including the text of
any resolutions proposed for consideration and, in the event that such proposal or business includes a proposal to amend these
articles, the text of the proposed amendment), and (iii) a description of all agreements, arrangements and understandings between
such Holder and beneficial owner, if any, and any other person or persons (including their names) in connection with the proposal
of such business by such Holder.

74.

As to each person, if any, whom the Holder proposes to nominate for election or re-election to the Board, a Holder’s notice must,
in addition to the matters set forth in article 72 above, also set forth: (i) all information relating to such person that would be
required to be disclosed in a proxy statement or other filings required to be made in connection with solicitations of proxies for
election of directors in a contested election pursuant to section 14 of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated
thereunder (including such person’s written consent to being named in the proxy statement as a nominee and to serving as a
director if elected) and (ii) a description of all direct and indirect compensation and other material monetary agreements,
arrangements and understandings during the past three years, and any other material relationships, between or among such Holder
and beneficial owner, if any, and their respective affiliates and associates, or others acting in concert therewith, on the one hand,
and each proposed nominee, and his or her respective affiliates and associates, or others acting in concert therewith, on the other
hand, including, without limitation all information that would be required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 404 promulgated under
Regulation S-K under the Exchange Act if the Holder making the nomination and any beneficial owner on whose behalf the
nomination is made, if any, or any affiliate or associate thereof or person acting in concert therewith, were the “registrant” for
purposes of such rule and the nominee were a director or executive officer of such registrant.

75.

As to each person, if any, whom the Holder proposes to nominate for election or re-election to the Board, a Holder’s notice must,
in addition to the matters set forth in articles 72 and 74 above, also include a completed and signed questionnaire, representation
and agreement required by article 78 of these articles. The Company may require any proposed nominee to furnish such other
information as may reasonably be required by the Company to determine the eligibility of such proposed nominee to serve as an
independent director of the Company or that could be material to a reasonable Holder’s understanding of the independence, or lack
thereof, of such nominee.

76.

Notwithstanding the provisions of these articles, a Holder shall also comply with all applicable requirements of the Exchange Act
and the rules and regulations thereunder with respect to the matters set forth in articles 64-78; provided, however, that any
references in these articles to the Exchange Act or the rules promulgated thereunder are not intended to and shall not limit the
separate and additional requirements se t forth in these articles with respect to nominations or proposals as to any other business to
be considered pursuant to these articles.

77.

Nothing in these articles shall be deemed to affect any rights (i) of Holders to request inclusion of proposals in the Company’s
proxy statement pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act
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if such Rule is applicable to the Company, (ii) of the Holders of any series of preferred shares if and to the extent provided for
under law, the memorandum of association or these art icles or (iii) of Holders of the Company to bring business before an
extraordinary general meeting pursuant to the valid exercise of power granted to them under the Acts. Subject to Rule 14a-8 under
the Exchange Act if such Rule is applicable to the Compa ny, nothing in these articles shall be construed to permit any Holder, or
give any Holder the right, to include or have disseminated or described in the Company’s proxy statement any nomination of
director or directors or any other business proposal.
78.

Subject to the rights of Holders of the Company to propose nominations at an extraordinary general meeting pursuant to the valid
exercise of power granted to them under the Acts, to be eligible to be a nominee for election or re-election as a director of the
Company, a person must deliver (in accordance with the time periods prescribed for delivery of notice under articles 64-76) to the
Secretary at the Office a written questionnaire with respect to the background and qualification of such person and the background
of any other person or entity on whose behalf the nomination is being made (which questionnaire shall be provided by the
Secretary upon written request), and a written representation and agreement (in the form provided by the Secretary upon written
request) that such person (A) is not and will not become a party to (1) any agreement, arrangement or understanding with, and has
not given any commitment or assurance to, any person or entity as to how such person, if elected as a director of the Company,
will act or vote on any issue or question (a “Voting Commitment”) that has not been disclosed to the Company or (2) any Voting
Commitment that could limit or interfere with such person’s ability to comply, if elected as a director of the Company, with such
person’s fiduciary duties under applicable law, (B) is not and will not become a party to any agreement, arrangement or
understanding with any person or entity other than the Company with respect to any direct or indirect compensation,
reimbursement or indemnification in connection with service or action as a director of the Company or its subsidiaries that has not
been disclosed therein, and (C) in such person’s individual capacity and on behalf of any person or entity on whose behalf the
nomination is being made, would be in compliance, if elected as a director of the Company, and will comply with all applicable
corporate governance, conflict of interest, confidentiality and share ownership and trading policies and guidelines of the Company
publicly disclosed from time to time.
VOTES OF HOLDERS

79.

Subject to any special rights or restrictions as to voting for the time being attached by or in accordance with these articles to any
class of shares, on a poll every Holder who is present in person or by proxy shall have one vote for each share of which he is the
Holder.

80.

When there are joint Holders, the vote of the senior who tenders a vote, whether in person or by proxy, shall be accepted to the
exclusion of the votes of the other joint Holders; and for this purpose, seniority shall be determined by the order in which the
names stand in the Register.

81.

A Holder of unsound mind, or in respect of whom an order has been made by any court having jurisdiction (whether in Ireland or
elsewhere) in matters concerning mental disorder, may vote, whether on a show of hands or on a poll, by his committee, receiver,
guardian or other person appointed by that court and any such committee, receiver, guardian or other person may vote by proxy on
a show of hands or on a poll. Evidence to the satisfaction of the Directors of the authority of the person claiming to exercise the
right to vote shall be received at the Office or at such other address as is specified in accordance with these articles for the receipt
of appointments of proxy, not less than forty-eight hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting
at which the right to vote is to be exercised and in default the right to vote shall not be exercisable.
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82.

No objection shall be raised to the qualific ation of any voter except at the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the vote
objected to is given or tendered, and every vote not disallowed at such meeting shall be valid for all purposes. Any such objection
made in due time shall be referred to the Ch airman of the meeting, whose decision shall be final and conclusive.

83.

Votes may be given either personally or by proxy.

84.

(a)Every Holder entitled to attend and vote at a general meeting may appoint a proxy to attend, speak and vote on his
behalf and may appoint more than one proxy to attend, speak and vote at the same meeting. The appointment of a
proxy shall be in any form consistent with the Acts which the Directors may approve and, if required by the Company,
shall be signed by or on behalf of the appointor. In relation to written proxies, a body corporate may sign a form of
proxy under its common seal or under the hand of a duly authorised officer thereof or in such other manner as the
Directors may approve. A proxy need not be a Holder of the Company. The appointment of a proxy in electronic or
other form shall only be effective in such manner as the Directors may approve. An instrument of other form of
communication appointing or evidencing the appointment of a proxy or a corporate representative (other than a
standing proxy or representative) together with such evidence as to its due execution as the board may from time to
time require, may be returned to the address or the addresses stated in the notice of meeting or adjourned meeting or
any other information or communication by such time or time as may be specified in the notice of meeting or adjourned
meeting or in any other such information or communication (which times may differ when more than one place is so
specified) or, if no such time is specified, at any time prior to the holding of the relevant meeting or adjourned meeting
at which the appointee proposes to vote, and, subject to the Acts, if not so delivered the appointment shall be treated as
valid.
(b)

Without limiting the foregoing, the Directors may from time to time permit appointments of a proxy to be made by
means of an electronic or internet communication or facility and may in a similar manner permit supplements to, or
amendments or revocations of, any such electronic or internet communication or facility to be made. The Directors
may in addition prescribe the method of determining the time at which any such electronic or internet communication
or facility is to be treated as received by the Company. The Directors may treat any such electronic or internet
communication or facility which purports to be or is expressed to be sent on behalf of a Holder of a share as sufficient
evidence of the authority of the person sending that instruction to send it on behalf of that Holder.

(c)

Without limiting the foregoing, in relation to any shares which are held in uncertificated form, the Directors may from
time to time permit appointments of a proxy to be made by means of electronic communication in the form of an
Uncertificated Proxy Instruction, (that is, a properly authenticated dematerialised instruction, and or other instruction or
notification, which is sent by means of the relevant system concerned and received by such participant in that system
acting on behalf of the Company as the Directors may prescribe in such form and subject to such terms and conditions
as may from time to time be prescribed by the Directors (subject always to the facilities and requirements of the
relevant system concerned)); and may in a similar manner permit supplements to, or amendments or revocations of,
any such Uncertificated Proxy Instruction to be made by like means. The Directors may in addition prescribe the
method of determining the time at which any such properly authenticated dematerialised instruction (and or other
instruction or notification) is to be treated as received by the Company or such participant. The Directors may treat any
such Uncertificated Proxy Instruction which purports to be or is expressed to be sent on
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behalf of a Holder of a sha re as sufficient evidence of the authority of a person sending that instruction to send it on
behalf of that Holder.
85.

Any body corporate which is a Holder of the Company may authorise such person or persons as it thinks fit to act as its
representative at any meeting of the Company or of any class of Holders of the Company and the person so authorised shall be
entitled to exercise the same powers on behalf of the body corporate which he represents as that body corporate could exercise if it
were an individual Holder of the Company. The Company may require evidence from the body corporate of the due authorisation
of such person to act as the representative of the relevant body corporate.

86.

An appointment of proxy relating to more than one meeting (including any adjournment thereof) having once been received by the
Company for the purposes of any meeting shall not require to be delivered, deposited or received again by the Company for the
purposes of any subsequent meeting to which it relates.

87.

Receipt by the Company of an appointment of proxy in respect of a meeting shall not preclude a Holder from attending and voting
at the meeting or at any adjournment thereof. An appointment proxy shall be valid, unless the contrary is stated therein, as well for
any adjournment of the meeting as for the meeting to which it relates.

88.

(a)A vote given or poll demanded in accordance with the terms of an appointment of proxy or a resolution authorising a
representative to act on behalf of a body corporate shall be valid notwithstanding the death or insanity of the principal,
or the revocation of the appointment of proxy or of the authority under which the proxy was appointed or of the
resolution authorising the representative to act or transfer of the share in respect of which the proxy was appointed or
the authorisation of the representative to act was given, provided that no intimation in writing (whether in electronic
form or otherwise) of such death, insanity, revocation or transfer shall have been received by the Company at the
Office, before the commencement of the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the appointment of proxy is used or at
which the representative acts; provided, however, that where such intimation is given in electronic form it shall have
been received by the Company at least 24 hours (or such lesser time as the Directors may specify) before the
commencement of the meeting.
(b)

The Directors may send, at the expense of the Company, by post, electronic mail or otherwise, to the Holders forms for
the appointment of a proxy (with or without stamped envelopes for their return) for use at any general meeting or at
any class meeting, either in blank or nominating any one or more of the Directors or any other persons in the
alternative.

(c)

Subject to the foregoing, a Holder may appoint a proxy by means of an “omnibus” or “enduring” proxy with or without
a power of substitution. Such “omnibus” or “enduring” proxy may provide that all persons who appear in a specified
register maintained by an Approved Nominee (each a “specified holder”) may act as proxy for so long as the name of
the specified holder appears in the specified Approved Nominee register in respect of the relevant number of Shares
which appear opposite the name of the specified holder in the Approved Nominee register from time to time (the
“Relevant Shares”) in relation to all meetings of the Company, and if any specified holder does not attend a meeting of
the Company, the relevant Holder may appoint such other persons as may be nominated by the specified holder from
time to time in accordance with the proxy registration system for specified holders as the Holder’s proxy in relation to
all meetings of the Company in respect of the Relevant Shares.
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89.

The instrument appointing a proxy shall be deemed to confer au thority to demand or join in demanding a poll.

90.

Subject to the Acts, a resolution in writing signed by all of the Holders for the time being entitled to attend and vote on such
resolution at a general meeting (or being bodies corporate by their duly authorised representatives) shall be as valid and effective
for all purposes as if the resolution had been passed at a general meeting of the Company duly convened and held, and may consist
of several documents in like form each signed by one or more persons, and if described as a special resolution shall be deemed to
be a special resolution within the meaning of the Acts. Any such resolution shall be served on the Company.
DIRECTORS

91.

The number of Directors shall not be less than two nor more than eleven. The continuing Directors may act notwithstanding any
vacancy in their body, provided that if the number of the Directors is reduced below the prescribed minimum the remaining
Director or Directors shall appoint forthwith an additional Director or additional Directors to make up such minimum or shall
convene a general meeting of the Company for the purpose of making such appointment. If, at any annual general meeting of the
Company, the number of Directors is reduced below the prescribed minimum due to the failure of any Directors to be re-elected,
then in those circumstances, the two Directors who receive the highest number of votes in favour of re-election shall be re-elected
and shall remain Directors until such time as additional Directors have been appointed to replace them as Directors. If, at any
annual general meeting of the Company, the number of Directors is reduced below the prescribed minimum in any circumstances
where one Director is re-elected, then that Director shall hold office until the next annual general meeting and the Director which
(excluding the re-elected Director) receives the highest number of votes in favour of re-election shall be re-elected and shall
remain a Director until such time as one or more additional Directors have been appointed to replace him or her. If there are no
Director or Directors able or willing to act then any two Holders may summon a general meeting for the purpose of appointing
Directors. Any additional Director so appointed shall hold office (subject to the provisions of the Acts and these articles) only until
the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company next following such appointment unless he is re-elected during such
meeting.

92.

Each Director shall be paid a fee for their services at such rate as may from time to time be determined by the Board. The
Directors may also be paid all travelling, hotel and other expenses properly incurred by them in attending and returning from
meetings of the Directors or any committee of the Directors or general meetings of the Company or in connection with the
business of the Company.

93.

If any Director shall be called upon to perform extra services as a Director which in the opinion of the Directors are outside the
scope of the ordinary duties of a Director, the Company may remunerate such Director either by a fixed sum or otherwise as may
be determined by a resolution passed at a meeting of the Directors and such remuneration may be either in addition to or in
substitution for any other remuneration to which he may be entitled as a Director.

94.

No shareholding qualification for Directors shall be required. A Director (whether or not a Holder of the Company) shall be
entitled to attend and speak at general meetings.

95.

Unless the Company otherwise directs, a Director of the Company may be or become a director or other officer of, or otherwise
interested in, any company promoted by the Company or in which the Company may be interested as Holder or otherwise, and no
such director shall be
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accountable to the Company for any remuneration or other benefits received by him as a Director or officer of, or from his interest
in, such other company.
BORROWING POWERS
96.

Subject to the Acts, the Directors may exercise all the powers of the Company to borrow or raise money, and to mortgage or
charge its undertaking, property, assets and uncalled capital or any part thereof and to issue debentures, debenture stock and other
securities whether outright or as collateral security for any debt, liability or obligation of the Company or of any third party,
without any limitation as to amount.
POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE DIRECTORS

97.

The business of the Company shall be managed by the Directors, who may pay all expenses incurred in promoting and registering
the Company and may exercise all such powers of the Company as are not, by the Acts or by these articles, required to be
exercised by the Company in general meeting, subject, nevertheless, to any of these articles and to the provisions of the Acts. No
resolution made by the Company in general meeting shall invalidate any prior act of the directors that would have been valid if
that resolution had not been made.

98.

The Directors may from time to time and at any time by power of attorney appoint any company, firm or person or body of
persons, whether nominated directly or indirectly by the Directors, to be the attorney or attorneys of the Company for such
purposes and with such powers, authorities and discretions (not exceeding those vested in or exercisable by the Directors under
these articles) and for such period and subject to such conditions as they may think fit, and any such power of attorney may
contain such provisions for the protection of persons dealing with any such attorney as the Directors may think fit, and may also
authorise any such attorney to delegate all or any of the powers, authorities and discretions vested in him.

99.

The Company may have for use in any place abroad an official seal.

100.

A Director who is in any way, whether directly or indirectly, interested in a contract or proposed contract with the Company shall
declare the nature of his interest at a meeting of the Directors in accordance with the Acts.

101.

A Director may vote in respect of any contract, appointment or arrangement in which he is interested, and he shall be counted in
the quorum present at the meeting.

102.

A Director may hold and be remunerated in respect of any other office or place of profit under the Company or any other company
in which the Company may be interested (other than the office of statutory auditor of the Company or any subsidiary thereof) in
conjunction with his office of Director for such period and on such terms as to remuneration and otherwise as the Directors may
determine, and no Director or intending Director shall be disqualified by his office from contracting or being interested, directly or
indirectly, in any contract or arrangement with the Company or any such other company either with regard to his tenure of any
such other office or place of profit or as vendor, purchaser or otherwise nor shall any Director so contracting or being so interested
be liable to account to the Company for any profits and advantages accruing to him from any such contract or arrangement by
reason of such Director holding that office or of the fiduciary relationship thereby established.

103.

The Directors may exercise the voting powers conferred by shares of any other company held or owned by the Company in such
manner in all respects as they think fit and in particular they may exercise their voting powers in favour of any resolution
appointing the Directors or any of them as Directors or officers of such other company or providing for the payment of
remuneration or pensions to the Directors or officers of such other company.
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104.

Any Direct or may act by himself or his firm in a professional capacity for the Company, and he or his firm shall be entitled to
remuneration for professional services as if he were not a Director, but nothing herein contained shall authorise a Director or his
firm t o act as statutory auditor to the Company.

105.

A Director may use the property of the Company pursuant to or in connection with: the exercise or performance of his or her
duties, functions, and powers as Director or employee; the terms of any contract of service or employment or letter of
appointment; and, or in the alternative, any other usage authorised by the Directors (or a person authorised by the Directors) from
time to time; and including in each case for a Director’s own benefit or for the benefit of another person.

106.

As recognised by section 228(1)(e) of the Companies Act, the Directors may agree to restrict their power to exercise independent
judgment but only where this has been expressly approved by a resolution of the board of directors of the Company.

107.

All cheques, promissory notes, drafts, bills of exchange and other negotiable instruments and all receipts for money paid to the
Company shall be signed, drawn, accepted, endorsed or otherwise executed, as the case may be, by such person or persons and in
such manner as the Directors shall from time to time by resolution determine.

108.

The Directors shall cause minutes to be made in books provided for the purpose:

109.

(a)

of all appointments of officers made by the Directors;

(b)

of the names of the Directors present at each meeting of the Directors and of any committee of the Directors; and

(c)

of all resolutions and proceedings at all meetings of the Company and of the Directors and of committees of Directors.

The Directors may procure the establishment and maintenance of or participate in, or contribute to any non-contributory or
contributory pension or superannuation fund, scheme or arrangement or life assurance scheme or arrangement for the benefit of,
and pay, provide for or procure the grant of donations, gratuities, pensions, allowances, benefits or emoluments to any persons
(including Directors or other officers) who are or shall have been at any time in the employment or service of the Company or of
any company which is or was a subsidiary of the Company or of the predecessor in business of the Company or any such
subsidiary or holding company and the spouses, widows, widowers, domestic partners, families, relatives or dependants of any
such persons. The Directors may also procure the establishment and subsidy of or subscription to and support of any institutions,
associations, clubs, funds or trusts calculated to be for the benefit of any such persons as aforesaid or otherwise to advance the
interests and wellbeing of the Company or of any such other company as aforesaid, or its Holders, and payments for or towards the
insurance of any such persons as aforesaid and subscriptions or guarantees of money for charitable or benevolent objects or for
any exhibition or for any public, general or useful object; provided that any Director shall be entitled to retain any benefit received
by him under this article, subject only, where the Acts require, to disclosure to the Holders and the approval of the Company in
general meeting.
DISQUALIFICATION OF DIRECTORS

110.

The office of a Director shall be vacated ipso facto if the Director:
(a)

is restricted or disqualified to act as a Director under the provisions of the Acts; or
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(b)

resigns his office by notice in writing to the Company or in writing offers to resign and the Directors resolve to accept
such offer; or

(c)

is removed from office under article 114.
APPOINTMENT, ROTATION AND REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS

111.

At every annual general meeting of the Company, all of the Directors shall retire from office unless re-elected by Ordinary
Resolution at the annual general meeting. A Director retiring at a meeting shall retain office until the close or adjournment of the
meeting.

112.

Every Director shall be eligible to stand for re-election at an annual general meeting.

113.

The Company may from time to time by Special Resolution increase or reduce the maximum number of Directors.

114.

The Company may, by Ordinary Resolution, in accordance with the Acts, remove any Director before the expiration of his period
of office notwithstanding anything in these articles or in any agreement between the Company and such Director. Such removal
shall be without prejudice to any claim such Director may have for damages for breach of any contract of service between him and
the Company.

115.

The Company may, by Ordinary Resolution, appoint another person in place of a Director removed from office under article 91
and without prejudice to the powers of the Directors under article 86 the Company in general meeting by Ordinary Resolution may
appoint any person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director, subject to the maximum number of
Directors set out in article 91.

116.

The Directors may appoint a person who is willing to act to be a Director, either to fill a vacancy or as an additional Director,
provided that the appointment does not cause the number of Directors to exceed any number fixed by or in accordance with these
articles as the maximum number of Directors. A Director so appointed shall hold office only until the next following annual
general meeting. If not re-appointed at such annual general meeting, such Director shall vacate office at the conclusion thereof.
PROCEEDINGS OF DIRECTORS

117.

(a)The Directors may meet together for the dispatch of business, adjourn and otherwise regulate their meetings as they
may think fit. The quorum necessary for the transaction of the business of the Directors shall be a majority of the
Directors in office at the time when the meeting is convened. Questions arising at any meeting of the Directors or any
committee thereof shall be decided by a majority of votes. Each director present and voting shall have one vote.
(b)

Any Director may participate in a meeting of the Directors or committee thereof by means of telephonic or other such
communication whereby all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other speak, and participation in a
meeting in this manner shall be deemed to constitute presence in person at such meeting and any Director may be
situated in any part of the world for any such meeting.

(c)

A Director may be counted in determining the presence of a quorum at a meeting of the Board which authorises or
approves the contract, transaction or arrangement in which he or she is interested and he or she shall be at liberty to
vote in respect of any contract, transaction or arrangement in which she is interested, provided that the nature of the
interest of any Director in any such contract or transaction shall be disclosed by
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him/her in accordance with article 102, at or prior to its consideration and any vote thereon.
118.

The Chairman or a majority of the Directors may, and the Secretary on the requisition of the Chairman or a majority of the
Directors shall, at any time summon a meeting of the Directors.

119.

The continuing Directors may act notwithstanding any vacancy in their number but, if and so long as their number is reduced
below the number fixed by or pursuant to these articles as the necessary quorum of Directors, the continuing Directors or Director
may act for the purpose of increasing the number of Directors to that number or of summoning a general meeting of the Company
but for no other purpose.

120.

The Directors may elect a Chairman of their meetings and determine the period for which he is to hold office. The Chairman shall
be selected from among the Holders of the Board of Directors. However, if no such Chairman is elected, or if at any meeting the
Chairman is not present within five minutes after the time appointed for holding the same, the Directors present may choose one of
their number to be Chairman of the meeting.

121.

In the event of tie vote with respect to any resolution of the Board of Directors, the Chairman shall not have a casting or deciding
vote.

122.

The Board may from time to time designate committees of the Board and may delegate any of its powers (with power to subdelegate) to such committees, with such powers and duties as the Board may decide to confer on such committees and shall, for
those committees and any others provided for herein, elect a director or directors to serve as the Holder or Holders, designating, if
it desires, other directors as alternate Holders who may replace any absent or disqualified Holder at any meeting of the committee.
Any such delegation may be made subject to any conditions the Board may impose, and either collaterally with or to the exclusion
of its own powers and may be revoked or altered. Adequate provision shall be made for notice to committee Holders of all
meetings; a majority of the committee Holders shall constitute a quorum; and all matters shall be determined by a majority vote of
the committee Holders present. Action may be taken by any committee without a meeting if all committee Holders thereof consent
thereto in writing, and the writing or writings are filed with the minutes of the proceedings of such committees.

123.

A committee may elect a chairman of its meeting. If no such chairman is elected, or if at any meeting the chairman is not present
within five minutes after the time appointed for holding the same, the Holders present may choose one of their number to be
chairman of the meeting.

124.

All acts done by any meeting of the Directors or of a committee of Directors or by any person acting as a Director shall,
notwithstanding that it be afterwards discovered that there was some defect in the appointment of any such Director or person
acting as aforesaid, or that they or any of them were disqualified, be as valid as if every such person had been duly appointed and
was qualified to be a Director.

125.

Notwithstanding anything in these articles or in the Acts which might be construed as providing to the contrary, notice of every
meeting of the Directors shall be given to all Directors either by mail not less than 48 hours before the date of the meeting, by
telephone, email, or any other electronic means on not less than 24 hours’ notice, or on such shorter notice as person or persons
calling such meeting may, upon advice of the Company’s counsel, deem necessary or appropriate and which is reasonable in the
circumstances. Any director may waive any notice required to be given under these articles, and the attendance of a director at a
meeting shall be deemed to be a waiver by such Director.

126.

A resolution or other document in writing (in electronic form or otherwise) signed (whether by electronic signature, advanced
electronic signature or otherwise as approved by the Directors)
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by all the Directors entitled to receive notice of a meeting of Directors or of a committee of Directors shall be as valid as if it had
been passed at a meeting of Directors or (as the case may be) a committee of Dire ctors duly convened and held and may consist of
several documents in the like form each signed by one or more Directors, and such resolution or other document or documents
when duly signed may be delivered or transmitted (unless the Directors shall otherwi se determine either generally or in any
specific case) by facsimile transmission, electronic mail or some other similar means of transmitting the contents of documents.
127.

The Secretary shall be appointed by the Board at such remuneration (if any) and on such terms as it may think fit and any
Secretary so appointed may be removed by the Board.

128.

A provision of the Companies Acts or these articles requiring or authorising a thing to be done by or to a Director and the
Secretary shall not be satisfied by its being done by or to the same person acting both as Director and as, or in the place of, the
Secretary.
THE SEAL

129.

(a)The Directors shall ensure that the Seal (including any official securities seal kept pursuant to the Acts) shall be used
only by the authority of the Directors or of a committee authorised by the Directors and that every instrument to which
the seal shall be affixed shall be signed by a Director or some other person appointed by the Directors for that purpose.
(b)

The Company may exercise the powers conferred by the Acts with regard to having an official seal for use abroad and
such powers shall be vested in the Directors.
DIVIDENDS AND RESERVES

130.

The Company in general meeting may declare dividends, but no dividends shall exceed the amount recommended by the
Directors.

131.

The Directors may from time to time pay to the Holders such interim dividends as appear to the Directors to be justified by the
profits of the Company.

132.

No dividend or interim dividend shall be paid otherwise than in accordance with the provisions of the Acts.

133.

The Directors may, before recommending any dividend, set aside out of the profits of the Company such sums as they think proper
as a reserve or reserves which shall, at the discretion of the Directors, be applicable for any purpose to which the profits of the
Company may be properly applied and pending such application may at the like discretion either be employed in the business of
the Company or be invested in such investments as the Directors may lawfully determine. The Directors may also, without placing
the same to reserve, carry forward any profits which they may think it prudent not to divide.

134.

Subject to the rights of persons, if any, entitled to shares with special rights as to dividend, all dividends shall be declared and paid
according to the amounts paid or credited as paid on the shares in respect whereof the dividend is paid. All dividends shall be
apportioned and paid proportionately to the amounts paid or credited as paid on the shares during any portion or portions of the
period in respect of which the dividend is paid; but if any share is issued on terms providing that it shall rank for dividend as from
a particular date, such share shall rank for dividend accordingly.

135.

The Directors may deduct from any dividend payable to any Holder all sums of money (if any) immediately payable by him to the
Company in relation to the shares of the Company.
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136.

Any general meeting declaring a dividend or bonus and any resolution of the Directors declaring an interim dividend may direc t
payment of such dividend or bonus or interim dividend wholly or partly by the distribution of specific assets and in particular of
paid up shares, debentures or debenture stocks of any other company or in any one or more of such ways, and the Directors s hall
give effect to such resolution, and where any difficulty arises in regard to such distribution, the Directors may settle the same as
they think expedient, and in particular may fix the value for distribution of such specific assets or any part thereof and may
determine that cash payments shall be made to any Holders upon the footing of the value so fixed, in order to adjust the rights of
all the parties, and may vest any such specific assets in trustees as may seem expedient to the Directors.

137.

Any dividend or other monies payable in respect of any share may be paid by cheque or warrant sent by post, at the risk of the
person or persons entitled thereto, to the registered address of the Holder or, where there are joint Holders, to the registered
address of that one of the joint Holders who is first named on the Holders Register or to such person and to such address as the
Holder or joint Holders may in writing direct. Every such cheque or warrant shall be made payable to the order of the person to
whom it is sent and payment of the cheque or warrant shall be a good discharge to the Company. Any joint Holder or other person
jointly entitled to a share as aforesaid may give receipts for any dividend or other monies payable in respect of the share. Any such
dividend or other distribution may also be paid by any other method (including payment in a currency other than US$, electronic
funds transfer, direct debit, bank transfer or by means of a relevant system) which the Directors consider appropriate and any
Holder who elects for such method of payment shall be deemed to have accepted all of the risks inherent therein. The debiting of
the Company’s account in respect of the relevant amount shall be evidence of good discharge of the Company’s obligations in
respect of any payment made by any such methods. In respect of shares in uncertificated form, where the Company is authorized
to do so by or on behalf of the Holder or joint Holders in such manner as the Company shall from time to time consider sufficient,
the Company may also pay any such dividend, interest or other monies by means of the relevant system concerned (subject always
to the facilities and requirements of that relevant system). Every such payment made by means of the relevant system shall be
made in such manner as may be consistent with the facilities and requirements of the relevant system concerned. Without
prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, in respect of shares in uncertificated form, such payment may include the sending by
the Company or by any person on its behalf of an instruction to the operator of the relevant system to credit the cash memorandum
account of the Holder or joint Holders.

138.

No dividend shall bear interest against the Company.

139.

If the Directors so resolve, any dividend which has remained unclaimed for twelve years from the date of its declaration shall be
forfeited and cease to remain owing by the Company. The payment by the Directors of any unclaimed dividend or other monies
payable in respect of a share into a separate account shall not constitute the Company a trustee in respect thereof.
ACCOUNTS

140.

(a)The Directors shall cause the Company to keep adequate accounting records which are sufficient to(i)

correctly record and explain the transactions of the Company;

(ii)

enable at any time, the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company to be
determined with reasonable accuracy;

(iii)

enable the Directors to ensure that any financial statements of the Company and any directors’ report,
required to be prepared under the Acts, complies with
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the requirements of the Acts and, where applicable article 4 of the IAS Regulation; and
(iv)

enable those financial statements of the Company to be audited.

Accounting records shall be kept on a continuous and consistent basis and entries therein shall be made in a timely
manner and be consistent from year to year in accordance with the Acts.
The Company may send a summary financial statement to its Holders or persons nominated by any Holder and the
Company may meet, but shall be under no obligation to meet, any request from any of its Holders to be sent additional
copies of the documents required to be sent to Holders by the Acts or any summary financial statement or other
communications with its Holders.
The Directors shall determine from time to time whether and to what extent and at what times and places and under
what conditions or regulations the accounts and books of the Company or any of them shall be open to the inspection
of Holders, not being Directors, and no Holder (not being a Director) shall have any right of inspecting any account or
book or document of the Company except as conferred by the Acts or authorised by the Directors or by the Company
in general meeting. No Holder shall be entitled to require discovery of or any information respecting any detail of the
Company’s trading, or any matter which is or may be in the nature of a trade secret, mystery of trade, or secret process
which may relate to the conduct of the business of the Company and which in the opinion of the Directors it would be
inexpedient in the interests of the Holders of the Company to communicate to the public.
CAPITALISATION OF PROFITS
141.

Without prejudice to any powers conferred on the Directors as aforesaid and subject to the Directors’ authority to issue and allot
shares under articles 8(c) and 8(d), the Directors or any duly appointed committee thereof may resolve to capitalise all or any part
of any amount for the time being standing to the credit of any of the Company’s reserve accounts (including, but not limited to,
any capital redemption reserve fund, capital conversion reserve, share premium account, or other reserve account not available for
distribution) or to the credit of the profit and loss account which is not available for distribution by applying such sum in paying up
in full unissued shares to be allotted as fully paid bonus shares to those Holders of the Company who would have been entitled to
that sum if it were distributable and had been distributed by way of dividend (and in the same proportions). Whenever such a
resolution is passed in pursuance of this article, the Directors shall make all appropriations and applications of the amounts
resolved to be capitalised thereby and all allotments and issues of fully paid shares or debentures, if any.

142.

Without prejudice to any powers conferred on the Directors by these articles, and subject to the Directors’ authority to issue and
allot shares under articles 8(c) and 8(d), the Directors may resolve that any sum for the time being standing to the credit of any of
the Company’s reserve accounts (including any reserve account available for distribution) or to the credit of the profit and loss
account be capitalised and applied on behalf of the Holders who would have been entitled to receive that sum if it had been
distributed by way of dividend (and in the same proportions) either in or towards paying up amounts for the time being unpaid on
any shares held by them respectively, or in paying up in full unissued shares or debentures of the Company of a nominal amount
equal to the sum capitalised (such shares or debentures to be allotted and distributed and credited as fully paid up to and amongst
such Holders in the proportions aforesaid) or partly in one way and partly in another, so, however, that the only purposes for which
sums standing to the credit of the capital redemption reserve fund, the capital conversion reserve or the share premium account
shall be applied shall be those permitted by the Acts.
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143.

The D irectors may from time to time at their discretion, subject to the provisions of the Acts and, in particular, to their being duly
authorised pursuant to the Acts, to allot the relevant shares, offer to the Holders of Ordinary Shares the right to elect to r eceive in
lieu of any dividend or proposed dividend or part thereof an allotment of additional Ordinary Shares credited as fully paid. In any
such case the following provisions shall apply.
(i)

The basis of allotment shall be determined by the Directors so that, as nearly as may be considered
convenient in the Directors’ absolute discretion, the value (calculated by reference to the average quotation)
of the additional Ordinary Shares (excluding any fractional entitlement) to be allotted in lieu of any amount
of dividend shall equal such amount. For such purpose the “average quotation” of an Ordinary Share shall
be the average of the five amounts resulting from determining whichever of the following ((A), (B) or (C)
specified below) in respect of Ordinary Shares shall be appropriate for each of the first five business days
on which Ordinary Shares are quoted “ex” the relevant dividend and as determined from the information
published by the NASDAQ reporting the dealings on NASDAQ on each of these five business days:
(A)

if there shall be more than one dealing reported for the day, the average of the prices at which
such dealings took place; or

(B)

if there shall be only one dealing reported for the day, the price at which such dealing took place;
or

(C)

if there shall not be any dealing reported for the day, the average of the closing bid and offer
prices for the day;

and if there shall be only a bid (but not an offer) or an offer (but not a bid) price reported, or if there shall not
be any bid or offer price reported, for any particular day then that day shall not count as one of the said five
business days for the purposes of determining the average quotation. If the means of providing the
foregoing information as to dealings and prices by reference to which the average quotation is to be
determined is altered or is replaced by some other means, then the average quotation shall be determined on
the basis of the equivalent information published by the relevant authority in relation to dealings on the
NASDAQ or its equivalent.
(ii)

The Directors shall give notice in writing (whether in electronic form or otherwise) to the Holders of
Ordinary Shares of the right of election offered to them and shall send with or following such notice forms
of election and specify the procedure to be followed and the place at which, and the latest date and time by
which, duly completed forms of election must be lodged in order to be effective. The Directors may also
issue forms under which Holders may elect in advance to receive new Ordinary Shares instead of dividends
in respect of future dividends not yet declared (and, therefore, in respect of which the basis of allotment
shall not yet have been determined).

(iii)

The dividend (or that part of the dividend in respect of which a right of election has been offered) shall not
be payable on Ordinary Shares in respect of which the right of election as aforesaid has been duly exercised
(the “Subject Ordinary Shares”) and in lieu thereof additional Ordinary Shares (but not any fraction of a
share) shall be allotted to the Holders of the Subject Ordinary Shares on the basis of allotment determined
aforesaid and for such purpose the Directors shall capitalise, out of such of the sums standing to the credit
of any
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of the Company’s reserves (including any capital rede mption reserve fund or share premium account) or to
the credit of the profit and loss account as the Directors may determine, a sum equal to the aggregate
nominal amount of additional Ordinary Shares to be allotted on such basis and apply the same in payin g up
in full the appropriate number of unissued Ordinary Shares for allotment and distribution to and amongst
the Holders of the Subject Ordinary Shares on such basis.
144.

(a)The additional Ordinary Shares allotted pursuant to articles 141, 142 or 143 shall rank pari passu in all respects with
the fully paid Ordinary Shares then in issue save only as regards participation in the relevant dividend or share election
in lieu.
(b)

The Directors may do all acts and things considered necessary or expedient to give effect to any capitalisation pursuant
to articles 141, 142 or 143 with full power to the Directors to make such provisions as they think fit where shares
would otherwise have been distributable in fractions (including provisions whereby, in whole or in part, fractional
entitlements are disregarded and the benefit of fractional entitlements accrues to the Company rather than to the
Holders concerned). The Directors may authorise any person to enter on behalf of all the Holders interested into an
agreement with the Company providing for such capitalisation and matters incidental thereto and any agreement made
under such authority shall be effective and binding on all concerned.

(c)

The Directors may on any occasion determine that rights of election shall not be offered to any Holders of Ordinary
Shares who are citizens or residents of any territory where the making or publication of an offer of rights of election or
any exercise of rights of election or any purported acceptance of the same would or might be unlawful, and in such
event the provisions aforesaid shall be read and construed subject to such determination.
AUDIT

145.

Statutory auditors shall be appointed and their duties regulated in accordance with the Acts or any statutory amendment thereof.
NOTICES

146.

Any notice to be given, served, sent or delivered pursuant to these articles shall be in writing (whether in electronic form or
otherwise).

147.

(a)A notice or document to be given, served, sent or delivered in pursuance of these articles may be given to, served on
or delivered to any Holder by the Company:
(i)

by handing same to him or his authorised agent;

(ii)

by leaving the same at his registered address;

(iii)

by sending the same by the post in a pre-paid cover addressed to him at his registered address; or

(iv)

by sending the notice or document by means of electronic mail or making it available by other means of
electronic communication approved by the Directors (including placing a copy of the notice or document on
the website of the Company) PROVIDED THAT any Holder may require the Company to send him a
physical copy of the notice or document by requesting the Company to do so PROVIDED FURTHER
HOWEVER that such request is made after
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the date of adoption of this article and it may not take effect until 5 days a fter written notice of the request
is received by the Company.
(b)

For the purposes of these articles and the Act, a document shall be deemed to have been sent to a Holder if a notice is
given, served, sent or delivered to the Holder and the notice specifies the website or hotlink or other electronic link at
or through which the Holder may obtain a copy of the relevant document.

(c)

Where a notice or document is given, served or delivered pursuant to sub-paragraph (a)(i) or (ii) of this article, the
giving, service or delivery thereof shall be deemed to have been effected at the time the same was handed to the Holder
or his authorised agent, or left at his registered address (as the case may be).

(d)

Where a notice or document is given, served or delivered pursuant to sub-paragraph (a)(iii) of this article, the giving,
service or delivery thereof shall be deemed to have been effected at the expiration of twenty-four hours after the cover
containing it was posted. In proving service or delivery it shall be sufficient to prove that such cover was properly
addressed, stamped and posted.

(e)

Where a notice or document is given, served or delivered pursuant to sub-paragraph (a)(iv) of this article, the giving,
service or delivery thereof shall be deemed to have been effected at the expiration of 48 hours after despatch.

(f)

Every legal personal representative, committee, receiver, curator bonis or other legal curator, assignee in bankruptcy,
examiner or liquidator of a Holder shall be bound by a notice given as aforesaid if sent to the last registered address of
such Holder, or, in the event of notice given or delivered pursuant to sub-paragraph (a)(iv), if sent to the address
notified by the Company by the Holder for such purpose notwithstanding that the Company may have notice of the
death, lunacy, bankruptcy, liquidation or disability of such Holder.

(g)

Notwithstanding anything contained in this article the Company shall not be obliged to take account of or make any
investigations as to the existence of any suspension or curtailment of postal services within or in relation to all or any
part of any jurisdiction or other area other than Ireland.

(h)

Without prejudice to the provisions of sub-paragraphs (a)(i) and (ii) of this article, if at any time by reason of the
suspension or curtailment of postal services in any territory, the Company is unable effectively to convene a general
meeting by notices sent through the post, a general meeting may be convened by a public announcement and such
notice shall be deemed to have been duly served on all Holders entitled thereto at noon on the day on which the said
public announcement is made. In any such case the Company shall put a full copy of the notice of the general meeting
on its website.

148.

A notice may be given by the Company to the joint Holders of a share by giving the notice to the joint Holder whose name stands
first in the Register in respect of the share and notice so given shall be sufficient notice to all the joint Holders.

149.

(a)Every person who becomes entitled to a share shall before his name is entered in the Register in respect of the share,
be bound by any notice in respect of that share which has been duly given to a person from whom he derives his title.
(b)

A notice may be given by the Company to the persons entitled to a share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy of
a Holder by sending or delivering it, in any manner authorised by these articles for the giving of notice to a Holder,
addressed to them at the address, if any, supplied by them for that purpose. Until such an address has been
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supplied, a notice may be given in any manner in which it might have been given if the death or bankruptcy had not
occurred.
150.

A Holder present, either in person or by proxy, at any meeting of the Company or the Holders of any class of shares in the
Company shall be deemed to have received notice of the meeting and, where requisite, of the purposes for which it was called.
WINDING UP

151.

If the Company shall be wound up and the assets available for distribution among the Holders as such shall be insufficient to repay
the whole of the paid up or credited as paid up share capital, such assets shall be distributed so that, as nearly as may be, the losses
shall be borne by the Holders in proportion to the capital paid up or credited as paid up at the commencement of the winding up on
the shares held by them respectively. And if in a winding up the assets available for distribution among the Holders shall be more
than sufficient to repay the whole of the share capital paid up or credited as paid up at the commencement of the winding up, the
excess shall be distributed among the Holders in proportion to the capital at the commencement of the winding up paid up or
credited as paid up on the said shares held by them respectively provided, however, that this article shall not affect the rights of the
Holders of shares issued upon special terms and conditions.

152.

(a)In case of a sale by the liquidator under section 601 of the Companies Act, the liquidator may by the contract of sale
agree so as to bind all the Holders for the allotment to the Holders directly of the proceeds of sale in proportion to their
respective interests in the Company and may further by the contract limit a time at the expiration of which obligations
or shares not accepted or required to be sold shall be deemed to have been irrevocably refused and be at the disposal of
the Company, but so that nothing herein contained shall be taken to diminish, prejudice or affect the rights of
dissenting Holders conferred by the said section.
(b)

153.

The power of sale of the liquidator shall include a power to sell wholly or partially for debentures, debenture stock, or
other obligations of another company, either then already constituted or about to be constituted for the purpose of
carrying out the sale.

If the Company is wound up, the liquidator, with the sanction of a Special Resolution and any other sanction required by the Acts,
may divide among the Holders in specie or kind the whole or any part of the assets of the Company (whether they shall consist of
property of the same kind or not), and, for such purpose, may value any assets and determine how the division shall be carried out
as between the Holders or different classes of Holders. The liquidator, with the like sanction, may vest the whole or any part of
such assets in trustees upon such trusts for the benefit of the contributories as, with the like sanction, he determines, but so that no
Holder shall be compelled to accept any assets upon which there is a liability.
INDEMNITY

154.

(a)Subject to the provisions of and so far as may be admitted by the Acts, every Director and the Secretary of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified by the Company against all costs, charges, losses, expenses and liabilities
incurred by him in the execution and discharge of his duties or in relation thereto including any liability incurred by
him in defending any proceedings, civil or criminal, which relate to anything done or omitted or alleged to have been
done or omitted by him as an officer or employee of the Company and in which judgement is given in his favour (or
the proceedings are otherwise disposed of without any finding or admission of any material breach of duty on his part)
or in which he is acquitted or in connection with any application under any statute for relief from liability in respect of
any such act or omission in which relief is granted to him by the Court.
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(b)

The Directors shall have power to purchase and maintain for any Director, the Secretary or any employees of the
Company or its subsidi aries insurance against any such liability as referred to in section 235 of the Companies Act .

(c)

As far as is permissible under the Acts, the Company shall indemnify any current or former executive officer of the
Company (excluding any present or former Directors of the Company or Secretary of the Company), or any person
who is serving or has served at the request of the Company as a director or executive officer of another company, joint
venture, trust or other enterprise, including any Company subsidiary (each individually, a “Covered Person”), against
any expenses, including attorney’s fees, judgements, fines, and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably
incurred by him or her in connection with any threatened, pending, or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether
civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, to which he or she was or is threatened to be made a party, or is
otherwise involved (a “proceeding”), by reason of the fact that he or she is or was a Covered Person; provided,
however, that this provision shall not indemnify any Covered Person against any liability arising out of (a) any fraud or
dishonesty in the performance of such Covered Person’s duty to the Company, or (b) such Covered Party’s conscious,
intentional or wilful breach of the obligation to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the
Company. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, this section shall not extend to any matter which would render it
void pursuant to the Acts or to any person holding the office of statutory auditor in relation to the Company.

(d)

In the case of any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding by or in the name of the Company, the
Company shall indemnify each Covered Person against expenses, including attorneys’ fees, actually and reasonably
incurred in connection with the defence or the settlement thereof, except no indemnification shall be made in respect of
any claim, issue or matter as to which such person shall have been adjudged to be liable for fraud or dishonesty in the
performance of his or her duty to the Company, or for conscious, intentional or wilful breach of his or her obligation to
act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the Company, unless and only to the extent that the
High Court of Ireland or the court in which such action or suit was brought shall determine upon application that
despite the adjudication of liability, but in view of all the circumstances of the case, such Covered Person is fairly and
reasonably entitled to indemnity for such expenses as the court shall deem proper. Notwithstanding the preceding
sentence, this section shall not extend to any matter which would render it void pursuant to the Acts or to any person
holding the office of statutory auditor in relation to the Company.

(e)

Any indemnification under this article (unless ordered by a court) shall be made by the Company only as authorised in
the specific case upon a determination that indemnification of the Covered Person is proper in the circumstances
because such person has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in this article. Such determination shall be
made by any person or persons having the authority to act on the matter on behalf of the Company. To the extent,
however, that any Covered Person has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defence of any proceeding, or in
defence of any claim, issue or matter therein, such Covered Person shall be indemnified against expenses (including
attorneys’ fees) actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection therewith, without necessity of
authorisation in the specific case.

(f)

As far as permissible under the Acts, expenses, including attorneys’ fees, incurred in defending any proceeding for
which indemnification is permitted pursuant to this article shall be paid by the Company in advance of the final
disposition of such proceeding upon receipt by the Board of an undertaking by the particular indemnitee
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to repay such amount if it shall ultimately be determined that he or she is not entitled to be indemnified by the
Company pursuant to these articles.
(g)

It being the policy of the Company that indemnification of the persons specified in this article shall be made to the
fullest extent permitted by law, the indemnification provided by this article shall not be deemed exclusive (a) of any
other rights to which those seeking indemnification or advancement of expenses may be entitled under these articles,
any agreement, any insurance purchased by the Company, vote of Holders or disinterested directors, or pursuant to the
direction (however embodied) of any court of competent jurisdiction, or otherwise, both as to action in his or her
official capacity and as to action in another capacity while holding such office, or (b) of the power of the Company to
indemnify any person who is or was an employee or agent of the Company or of another company, joint venture, trust
or other enterprise which he or she is serving or has served at the request of the Company, to the same extent and in the
same situations and subject to the same determinations as are hereinabove set forth. As used in this article, references
to the “Company” include all constituent companies in a scheme of arrangement, consolidation or merger in which the
Company or a predecessor to the Company by scheme of arrangement, consolidation or merger was involved. The
indemnification provided by this article shall continue as to a person who has ceased to be a Covered Person and shall
inure to the benefit of their heirs, executors, and administrators.
UNTRACED HOLDERS

155.

(a)The Company shall be entitled to sell at the best price reasonably obtainable any share or stock of a Holder or any
share or stock to which a person is entitled by transmission if and provided that:

(b)

(i)

for a period of twelve years (not less than three dividends having been declared and paid) no cheque or
warrant sent by the Company through the post in a prepaid letter addressed to the Holder or to the person
entitled by transmission to the share or stock at his address on the Register or other last known address
given by the Holder or the person entitled by transmission to which cheques and warrants are to be sent has
been cashed and no communication has been received by the Company from the Holder or the person
entitled by transmission; and

(ii)

at the expiration of the said period of twelve years the Company has given notice by advertisement in a
leading Dublin newspaper and a newspaper circulating in the area in which the address referred to in
paragraph (a) of this article is located of its intention to sell such share or stock; and

(iii)

the Company has not during the further period of three months after the date of the advertisement and prior
to the exercise of the power of sale received any communication from the Holder or person entitled by
transmission.

To give effect to any such sale the Company may appoint any person to execute as transferor an instrument of transfer
of such share or stock and such instrument of transfer shall be as effective as if it had been executed by the registered
Holder of or person entitled by transmission to such share or stock. The Company shall account to the Holder or other
person entitled to such share or stock for the net proceeds of such sale by carrying all monies in respect thereof to a
separate account which shall be a permanent debt of the Company and the Company shall be deemed to be a debtor and
not a trustee in respect thereof for such Holder or other person. Monies carried to such separate account may either be
employed in the business of the Company or invested
46

in such investments (other than shares of the Company or its holding company if any) as the Directors may from time
to time think fit.
(c)

To the extent necessary in order to comply with any laws or regulations to which the Company is subject in relation to
escheatment, abandonment of property or other similar or analogous laws or regulations (“Applicable Escheatment
Laws”), the Company may deal with any share of any Holder and any unclaimed cash payments relating to such share
in any manner which it sees fit, including (but not limited to) transferring or selling such share and transferring to third
parties any unclaimed cash payments relating to such share.

(d)

The Company may only exercise the powers granted to it in sub-paragraph (a) above in circumstances where it has
complied with, or procured compliance with, the required procedures (as set out in the Applicable Escheatment Laws)
with respect to attempting to identify and locate the relevant Holder of the Company.

(e)

Any stock transfer form to be executed by the Company in order to sell or transfer a share pursuant to sub-paragraph
(a) may be executed in accordance with article.
DESTRUCTION OF DOCUMENTS

156.

The Company may implement such document destruction policies as it so chooses in relation to any type of documents (whether
in paper, electronic or other formats), and in particular (without limitation to the foregoing) may destroy:
(a)

any dividend mandate or any variation or cancellation thereof or any notification of change of name or address, at any
time after the expiry of two years from the date such mandate variation, cancellation or notification was recorded by
the Company;

(b)

any instrument of transfer of shares which has been registered, at any time after the expiry of six years from the date of
registration; and

(c)

any other document on the basis of which any entry in the Register was made, at any time after the expiry of six years
from the date an entry in the Register was first made in respect of it,

and it shall be presumed conclusively in favour of the Company that every share certificate (if any) so destroyed was a valid
certificate duly and properly sealed and that every instrument of transfer so destroyed was a valid and effective instrument duly
and properly registered and that every other document destroyed hereunder was a valid and effective document in accordance with
the recorded particulars thereof in the books or records of the Company provided always that:
(i)

the foregoing provisions of this article shall apply only to the destruction of a document in good faith and
without express notice to the Company that the preservation of such document was relevant to a claim;

(ii)

nothing contained in this article shall be construed as imposing upon the Company any liability in respect of
the destruction of any such document earlier than as aforesaid or in any case where the conditions of
proviso (a) above are not fulfilled; and

(iii)

references in this article to the destruction of any document include references to its disposal in any manner.
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BUSINESS COMBINATION
157.

(a)Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in these articles, but subject to applicable law, the Company
shall not engage in any business combination with any Interested Holder for a period of three years following the time
that such Holder became an Interested Holder, unless:
(i)

prior to such time the Directors approved either the business combination or the transaction which resulted
in the Holder becoming an Interested Holder;

(ii)

upon consummation of the transaction which resulted in the Holder becoming an Interested Holder, the
Interested Holder owned at least 85% of the voting shares of the Company outstanding at the time the
transaction commenced, excluding for purposes of determining the voting shares outstanding (but not the
outstanding voting shares owned by the Interested Holder) those shares owned (A) by persons who are
directors and also officers and (B) employee shares plans in which employee participants do not have the
right to determine confidentially whether shares held subject to the plan will be tendered in a tender or
exchange offer; or

(iii)

at or subsequent to such time the business combination is approved by the Directors and authorised by way
of shareholders holding not less than two thirds of the issued share capital of the Company without the
Interested Holder.

(b)

The Directors shall have the power and duty to determine, on the basis of information known to them after reasonable
inquiry, all facts necessary to determine compliance with this article, including, without limitation, (i) whether a Person
is an Interested Holder, (ii) the number of shares or other securities beneficially owned by any Person, (iii) whether a
Person is an Affiliate or Associate of another, and (iv) the fair market value of the Company’s securities or securities of
any subsidiary of the Company, and the good faith determination of the Directors on such matters shall be conclusive
and binding for all the purposes of this article.

(c)

As used in this article only, the term:
(i)

“Affiliate” means a person that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls or is
controlled by, or is under common control with, another person.

(ii)

“Associate”, when used to indicate a relationship with any person, means: (A) any company, partnership,
unincorporated association or other entity of which such person is a director, executive officer, partner or
general partner or is, directly or indirectly, the owner of 20% or more of any class of voting shares; (B) any
trust or other estate in which such person has at least a 20% beneficial interest or as to which such person
serves as trustee or in a similar fiduciary capacity; and (C) any relative or spouse of such person, or any
relative of such spouse, who has the same residence as such person.

(iii)

“Business combination”, when used in reference to any company and any Interested Holder of such
company, means:
(A)

any scheme of arrangement, merger or consolidation of the Company or any direct or indirect
majority-owned subsidiary of the Company with (1) the Interested Holder, or (2) any other
company, partnership, unincorporated association or other entity if the scheme of
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arrangement, merger or consolidation is caused by the Interested Holder;

(iv)

(B)

any sale, lease, exchange, mortgage, pledge, transfer or other disposition (in one transaction or a
series of transactions), except proportionately as a Holder of such company, to or with the
Interested Holder, whether as part of a dissolution or otherwise, of assets of the Company or of
any direct or indirect majority-owned subsidiary of the Company which assets have an aggregate
market value equal to 10% or more of either the aggregate market value of all the assets of the
Company determined on a consolidated basis or the aggregate market value of all the
outstanding shares of the Company;

(C)

any transaction which results in the issuance or transfer by the Company or by any direct or
indirect majority-owned subsidiary of the Company of any shares of the Company or of such
subsidiary to the Interested Holder, except: (1) pursuant to the exercise, exchange or conversion
of securities exercisable for, exchangeable for or convertible into shares of such company or any
such subsidiary which securities were outstanding prior to the time that the Interested Holder
became such; (2) pursuant to a dividend or distribution paid or made, or the exercise, exchange
or conversion of securities exercisable for, exchangeable for or convertible into shares of such
company or any such subsidiary which security is distributed, pro rata to all Holders of a class or
series of shares of such company subsequent to the time the Interested Holder became such; (3)
pursuant to an exchange offer by the Company to purchase shares made on the same terms to all
Holders of said shares; or (4) any issuance or transfer of shares by the Company; provided
however, that in no case under items (3) and (4) of this subparagraph shall there be an increase
in the Interested Holder’s proportionate share of the shares of any class or series of the Company
or of the voting shares of the Company;

(D)

any transaction involving the Company or any direct or indirect majority-owned subsidiary of
the Company which has the effect, directly or indirectly, of increasing the proportionate share of
the shares of any class or series, or securities convertible into the shares of any class or series, of
the Company or of any such subsidiary which is owned by the Interested Holder, except as a
result of immaterial changes due to fractional share adjustments or as a result of any purchase or
redemption of any shares of shares not caused, directly or indirectly, by the Interested Holder; or

(E)

any receipt by the Interested Holder of the benefit, directly or indirectly (except proportionately
as a Holder of such company), of any loans, advances, guarantees, pledges or other financial
benefits (other than those expressly permitted in subparagraphs (A)-(D) of this paragraph)
provided by or through the Company or any direct or indirect majority-owned subsidiary.

“Control”, including the terms “controlling”, “controlled by” and “under common control with”, means the
possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and
policies of a person, whether through the ownership of voting shares, by contract or otherwise. A person
who is the owner of 20% or more of the outstanding voting
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shares of any company, partnership, unincorporated association or other entity shall be presumed to have
control of such entity, in the absence of proof by a preponde rance of the evidence to the contrary.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, a presumption of control shall not apply where such person holds voting
shares, in good faith and not for the purpose of circumventing this article, as an agent, bank, broker,
nominee, c ustodian or trustee for one or more owners who do not individually or as a group have control of
such entity.
(v)

“Interested Holder” means any Person, including its Affiliates and Associates (other than the Company and
any direct or indirect majority-owned subsidiary of the Company), that is, or was at any time within the
three-year period immediately prior to the date in question, the Owner of 20% or more of the outstanding
voting shares of the Company; provided, however, that the term “Interested Holder” shall not include any
person whose ownership of shares in excess of the 20% limitation set forth herein is the result of action
taken solely by the Company; provided that such person shall be an Interested Holder if thereafter such
person acquires additional voting shares of the Company, except as a result of further corporate action not
caused, directly or indirectly, by such person. For the purpose of determining whether a person is an
Interested Holder, the voting shares of the Company deemed to be outstanding shall include shares deemed
to be owned by the person through application of (viii) of this subsection but shall not include any other
unissued shares of such company which may be issuable pursuant to any agreement, arrangement or
understanding, or upon exercise of conversion rights, warrants or options, or otherwise.

(vi)

“Person” means any individual, company, partnership, unincorporated association or other entity.

(vii)

“Shares” means, with respect to any company, capital shares and, with respect to any other entity, any
equity interest.

(viii)

“Voting shares” means, with respect to any company, shares of any class or series entitled to vote generally
in the election of directors and, with respect to any entity that is not a company, any equity interest entitled
to vote generally in the election of the governing body of such entity. Every reference to a percentage of
voting shares shall refer to such percentage of the votes of such voting shares.

(ix)

“Owner”, including the terms “own” and “owned”, when used with respect to any Shares, means a person
that individually or with or through any of its Affiliates or Associates:
(A)

beneficially owns such Shares, directly or indirectly; or

(B)

has (1) the right to acquire such Shares (whether such right is exercisable immediately or only
after the passage of time) pursuant to any agreement, arrangement or understanding, or upon the
exercise of conversion rights, exchange rights, warrants or options, or otherwise; provided,
however, that a person shall not be deemed the Owner of Shares tendered pursuant to a tender or
exchange offer made by such person or any of such person’s affiliates or associates until such
tendered Shares are accepted for purchase or exchange; or (2) the right to vote such shares
pursuant to any agreement, arrangement or understanding; provided, however, that a person shall
not be deemed the Owner of any Shares because of such person’s right to vote such
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Shares if the agreement, arrangement or understanding to vote such shares arises solely from a
revocable proxy or cons ent given in response to a proxy or consent solicitation made to 10 or
more persons; or
(C)

has any agreement, arrangement or understanding for the purpose of acquiring, holding, voting
(except voting pursuant to a revocable proxy or consent as described in item (2) of subparagraph
(B) of this paragraph), or disposing of such Shares with any other person that beneficially owns,
or whose Affiliates or Associates beneficially own, directly or indirectly, such Shares.
SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS PLAN

158.

The Board is hereby expressly authorised to adopt and amend any shareholder rights plan upon such terms and conditions as the
Board deems expedient and in the interests of the Company, subject to applicable law.
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Exhibit 3.1
We, the several persons whose names and addresses are subscribed, wish to be formed into a company in pursuance of this memorandum of
association and we agree to take the number of shares in the capital of the company set opposite our respective names.
Names, addresses and descriptions of subscribers
Thirty Nine Thousand, Nine Hundred and Ninety Four Ordinary Shares
For and on behalf of

Presbia Holdings
Stuarts Corporate Services Ltd
P.O. Box 2510
Grand Cayman KY1-1104
Cayman Islands
For and on behalf of
One Ordinary Share
Arthur Cox Trust Services Limited
Arthur Cox Building
Earlsfort Terrace
Dublin 2
For and on behalf of
One Ordinary Share
AC Administration Services Limited
Arthur Cox Building
Earlsfort Terrace
Dublin 2
For and on behalf of
One Ordinary Share
Arthur Cox Nominees Limited
Arthur Cox Building
Earlsfort Terrace
Dublin 2
For and on behalf of
One Ordinary Share
Arthur Cox Registrars Limited
Arthur Cox Building
Earlsfort Terrace
Dublin 2
For and on behalf of
DIJR Nominees Limited
Arthur Cox Building
Earlsfort Terrace
Dublin 2

One Ordinary Share

For and on behalf of
Fand Limited
Arthur Cox Building
Earlsfort Terrace
Dublin 2

One Ordinary Share

Dated: 23 January 2014

Number of shares taken by each subscriber

Witnesses to the above signatures:
Shanon Ball
Presbia Holdings
P.O. Box 2510
Grand Cayman KY1-1104
Cayman Islands
Louise Gaffney
Arthur Cox Building
Earlsfort Terrace
Dublin 2
Ireland

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER REQUIRED BY
RULE 13A-14(A) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Todd Cooper, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Presbia PLC;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: August 11, 2017

By:

/s/ Todd Cooper
Todd Cooper
Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER REQUIRED BY
RULE 13A-14(A) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Jarett Fenton, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Presbia PLC;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: August 11, 2017

By:

/s/ Jarett Fenton
Jarett Fenton
Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Presbia PLC (the “Company”) for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2017 (the
“Report”), the undersigned hereby certify in their capacities as Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, respectively,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
1.

the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2.

the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: August 11, 2017

By:

/s/ Todd Cooper
Todd Cooper
Chief Executive Officer
(Principle Executive Officer)

Date: August 11, 2017

By:

/s/ Jarett Fenton
Jarett Fenton
Chief Financial Officer
(Principle Financial Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting
the signatures that appear in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to the
Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

